
 

 
Addenbrooke House   Ironmasters Way    Telford   TF3 4NT 

 

Continued… 

CABINET 

 

Date Thursday, 24 September 2020 Time 10.00 am 

Venue Remote Meeting 

 

Enquiries Regarding this Agenda 

Democratic Services Stacey Worthington 01952 384382 

Media Enquiries Corporate Communications 01952 382406 

Lead Officer David Sidaway, Chief Executive 01952 380130 

 
Cabinet Members: Councillor S Davies Leader 
 Councillor R A Overton Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for 

Enforcement, Community Safety and 
Customer Services 

 Councillor A J Burford Cabinet Member for Health & Social Care 

 Councillor E M Callear Cabinet Member for Leisure, Libraries and 
Culture 

 Councillor L D Carter Cabinet Member for Neighbourhood, 
Commercial Services and Regeneration 

 Councillor R C Evans Cabinet Member for Council Finance and 
Governance 

 Councillor C Healy Cabinet Member for Visitor Economy, 
Historic & Natural Environment and 
Climate Change 

 Councillor S A W Reynolds Cabinet Member for Children, Young 
People, Education and Lifelong Learning 

 Councillor P Watling Cabinet Member for Cooperative 
Communities, Engagement and 
Partnerships 

 Councillor D Wright Cabinet Member for Economy, Housing, 
Transport and Infrastructure 

   
Invitees: Councillor A J Eade Conservative 

 Councillor W L Tomlinson Liberal Democrats 

 

AGENDA 
Page 

   
 

1.   Apologies for Absence 
 

  

   
 

2.   Declarations of Interest 
 

  

   3.   Minutes of the Previous Meeting  5 - 10 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



 

 

  
   
 

4.   Leader's Announcements 
 

  

Key  
 

5.   Issues & Options Consultation (review of 
Telford & Wrekin Local Plan) 
 

Cllr D Wright 11 - 120 

   
 

6.   LGA Recovery & Renewal Panel 
 

Cllr S Davies 121 - 124 

   
 

7.   Learning Disabilities Day Opportunities 
Recovery Model 
 

Cllr A J Burford 125 - 134 

   
 

8.   Exclusion of the Press and Public 
 

It is 
recommended 
that the press 
and public be 
excluded from 
the meeting for 
the remaining 
item of business 
on the grounds 
that it may 
involve the likely 
disclosure of 
exempt 
information as 
defined in 
paragraph 3 of 
Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A 
of the Local 
Government Act 
1972. 

 

      
   
 

9.   West Stand - AFC Telford UTD 
 

Cllr S Davies To Follow 

  

 
FILMING, RECORDING & PHOTOGRAPHY 
The Council supports the principle of transparency and encourages filming, recording and taking 
photographs at its meetings that are open to the public. It also welcomes the use of social 
networking websites (such as Twitter and Facebook) and micro-blogging to communicate with 
people about what is happening, as it happens. 
There is no requirement to notify the Council in advance, but it should be noted that the Chairman 
of the meeting will have absolute discretion to terminate or suspend any of these activities if, in 
their opinion, continuing to do so would prejudice proceedings at the meeting. Full details of the 

Page 2



 

 

Council’s protocol on audio/visual recording and photography at meetings can be accessed via the 
following link: 
http://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20243/council_meetings/365/filming_photography_recording_and_u
se_of_social_networking_at_meetings 

Page 3

http://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20243/council_meetings/365/filming_photography_recording_and_use_of_social_networking_at_meetings
http://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20243/council_meetings/365/filming_photography_recording_and_use_of_social_networking_at_meetings


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

CABINET 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Cabinet held on Thursday, 9 July 2020 at 
10.00 am in Remote Meeting 

 
PUBLISHED ON WEDNESDAY, 15 JULY 2020 

 
(DEADLINE FOR CALL-IN: MONDAY, 20 JULY 2020) 

 
 
Present: Councillors S Davies (Chair), R A Overton (Vice-Chair), A J Burford, 
E M Callear, L D Carter, R C Evans, C Healy, S A W Reynolds, P Watling and 
D Wright.  
 
Also Present:  Cllr A J Eade (Conservative Group Leader) and Cllr 
W L Tomlinson (Liberal Democrats / Independent Group Leader) 
 
CAB-9 Declarations of Interest 
 
None. 
 
CAB-10 Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
 
RESOLVED – that the minutes of the meeting held on 18 June 2020 be 
confirmed and signed by the Chair. 
 
CAB-11 2020/21 Financial Monitoring Report 
 
Key Decision identified as 2020/21 Financial Monitoring Report in the 
Notice of Key Decisions published on 10 June 2020. 
 
RESERVED FOR COUNCIL 
 
Councillor R C Evans, Cabinet Member for Council Finance & Governance 
presented the report of the Director: Finance & HR, Chief Finance Officer. 
 
Cabinet Members noted the significant impact of the coronavirus pandemic 
(Covid-19) on the country, which had impacted on the Council’s financial 
pressures. There were increased costs in relation to the provision of Social 
Care; the purchase of essential personal, protective equipment (PPE); income 
shortfall following the closure of facilities and services; and a projected 
shortfall in relation to Council Tax and Non Domestic Rates. The Council 
received £10.1m from the National Emergency Response Funding grant, 
Members noted the projected pressure was estimated to be around £20.7m. 
Cabinet Members also noted a projected £8m shortfall from business rates 
and council tax, which resulted in a residual pressure of around £18.6m. 
 
Work was being undertaken to refine and update the pressures and identify 
mitigations, which would feed into the Mid-Year 2020/21 Service & Financial 
Planning Strategy. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



 

 

 
There were a number of variations noted from the approved budget, as noted 
in the report. Members acknowledged that the majority of these were in 
relation to Covid-19. 
 
The funding outlook for the medium term was still very uncertain. The Local 
Government Finance System changes had been deferred and funding levels 
for 2021/22 remained unclear. The one year Government ‘spending round’ 
was expected to be announced in the autumn.  
 
The Capital programme totalled £94m which included all approvals since the 
budget had been set. Projected spend was 78.4% of the budget allocation.  
The impact of Covid-19 would be closely monitored and projections updated 
once information became available.   
 
The Income monitoring position was noted; Covid-19 had significantly 
impacted on collection rates, with Business Rates, Council Tax and Sales 
Ledger all behind target. Debt recovery action had been suspended from 
March 2020, as part of a range of support provided to residents and 
businesses.  
 
Cabinet Members discussed the impact Covid-19 had on the Borough, 
including the significant financial impact and urged central government to 
provide the promised financial support for local Councils. In response to a 
question from the Conservative Group Leader, the Leader stated that he 
would continue to work with the Borough’s two MPs to lobby for a fair deal for 
Telford and Wrekin.  
 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
(a) that it be noted that the 2020/21 revenue budget position has been 

significantly impacted by the Covid-19 pandemic; 
 
 
(b) to RECOMMEND TO COUNCIL that delegation be granted to the 

Director: Finance & HR to, after consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Council Finance & Governance, make changes to the 
Service & Financial Planning Strategy to reflect Covid-19 grants 
received and any associated spend;  

 
(c) the position in relation to capital spend be noted and to 

RECOMMEND TO COUNCIL it approves the changes to the capital 
programme as detailed in Appendix 3 of the report; 

 
(d) the collection rates for NNDR, council tax and sales ledger be noted 
 
CAB-12 Better Homes for all 
 

Page 6



 

 

Key Decision identified as Better Homes For All in the Notice of Key 
Decisions published on 10 June 2020. 
 
Councillor D Wright, Cabinet Member for Economy, Housing, Transport and 
Infrastructure, presented the report of the Director: Housing, Employment & 
Infrastructure. The report provided Cabinet with an update on the programme. 
 
Members noted the report, which advised:  

 More than 200 Houses of Multiple Occupancy (HMO) had been 
licensed and two prosecutions had taken place to address poorly 
managed HMOs; 

 Over 400 enforcement notices had been issued to bring properties up 
to standard; 

 The first Banning Order in England had been granted, which prevented 
the landlord concerned with working in the property industry for up to 
five years; 

 Neighbourhood Enforcement Officers tackled all aspects of Anti Social 
Behaviour; 

 
The report set out proposals to maintain and broaden the scope of the 
programme to make best use of and improve the quality of existing homes in 
the Borough. Two new priority areas had been identified for 2020/21: 

 Bringing long term empty residential properties back into use; 

 Tackling fuel poverty across the Borough by increasing the take up of 
energy efficiency schemes and funding. This included the publication of 
the Statement of Intent for the Energy Company Obligation (ECO) 
scheme. 

 
Cabinet Members welcomed the report and stated that housing was the 
foundation to build lives. Cabinet Members discussed the impact of fuel 
poverty and welcomed the support available to residents. A discussion was 
held in respect of the recent government announcements on fuel poverty and 
it was confirmed that the scheme would be looked at in detail to ensure 
residents received the most benefit. 
 
RESOLVED – 
 

(a) That the continued progress outlined in Section 4 of the report be 
noted; 

(b) The next steps as set out in Section 5 of the report, specifically 
5.1.3 and 5.2.2 along with the Statement of Intent set out in 
Appendix A of the report, outlining the approach to Empty 
Properties in the Borough and Improving Energy Efficiency to 
help address fuel poverty be agreed; 

(c) That authority be delegated to the Director: Housing, Employment 
& Infrastructure, in consultation with the Lead Cabinet Members 
for Housing, Transport & Infrastructure and Enforcement, 
Community Safety & Customer Services, to take the necessary 
steps to implement these recommendations.   

 

Page 7



 

 

CAB-13 Health & Wellbeing Strategy 
 
Key Decision identified as Health & Wellbeing Strategy in the Notice of Key 
Decisions published on 10 June 2020. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Health and Social Care presented the report of the 
Director: Health, Wellbeing & Commissioning. The report outlined the 
proposals for the refreshed Health & Wellbeing Strategy for 2020/21 – 
2022/23. It was noted that the strategy had been produced before the full 
impact of Covid-19 had been realised. The pandemic had significantly 
impacted on resident’s health and wellbeing, particularly in relation to 
emotional and mental wellbeing. The strategy had been updated to reflect the 
recovery, reform and reset agenda. 
 
The proposed priorities were: 
 

 Continued development of the Telford & Wrekin Integrated Place 
Partnership 

 Focus on tackling health inequalities 

 Call to action to improve emotional and mental wellbeing 

 Protection from infectious diseases and other threats.  
 
Cabinet Members paid tribute to the work of the local community to support 
the strategy.  
 
 
RESOLVED that the Health & Wellbeing Strategy 2020/21-2022/23 be 
approved.  
 
CAB-14 Ofsted ILACS Report 
 
Non-Key Decision 
 
Councillor S A W Reynolds, Cabinet Member for Children’s Services 
presented the report of the Executive Director: Children’s & Family Services. 
The report presented the findings of the recent Ofsted Inspection of the Local 
Authority Children’s Services.  
 
The inspection assessed the Council’s Children’s Services to be ‘outstanding’. 
Two of the three main inspection areas (the experiences and progress of 
children in care and the impact of leaders on social work practice with children 
and families) were judged ‘outstanding’ and the remaining area (experiences 
and progress of children who need help and protection) was ‘good’. It was 
noted that only 18 local authorities had been judged to be outstanding and 
Telford & Wrekin was the only authority in the West Midlands and North West 
of England to achieve this.  
 
One area was noted to need improvement, ‘the quality of recording in 
children’s plans and at key management decision points’. The Local Authority 

Page 8



 

 

was required to submit an action plan responding to the report within 70 
working days of receiving it.  
 
Cabinet Members welcomed the report and praised the officers for their hard 
work to achieve the judgment. Cabinet Members acknowledged that this 
report had been ten years in the making and raised the significant investment 
that had occurred in children’s services over this time.  
 
RESOLVED that: 
 

(a) The content of the report be noted; 
(b) The request by Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee to 

monitor the implementation of the action plan be noted and 
supported; 

(c) The Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee be asked to 
provide a report to Cabinet setting out progress being made 
against the Action Plan. 

 
CAB-15 Outstanding Shared Lives Service - The Outcome Of The 

Care Quality Commission (CQC) Inspection Of The Local 
Authority Shared Lives Service 

 
Non-Key Decision 
 
The Cabinet Member for Health and Social Care presented the report of the 
Director: Adult Social Care. The report summarised the results of the Care 
Quality Commission (CQC) inspection of Telford & Wrekin Shared Lives 
Services. The service had been assessed to be outstanding. 
 
Cabinet Members noted that the service was only one of 5% of Shared Lives 
Schemes across England rated outstanding. The report highlighted areas of 
good practice. 
 
The Service had looked for further development opportunities, which included: 

 A promotional campaign 

 An extended home from hospital pilot 

 Extended day support offer 

 Shared Lives Plus. 
 
Cabinet Members stated that this was a good news story and acknowledged 
that as well as being an excellent, supportive service, it also provided good 
value for money. Cabinet Members praised the hard work of the small, 
dedicated team of officers who worked in this service.  
 
RESOLVED that: 
 

(a) The content of the report be noted; 
(b) The Outstanding Shared Lives Service and in particular the high 

quality of care provided by Shared Lives Carers that support 
residents be supported and promoted; 

Page 9



 

 

(c) The Shared Lives Services be supported to continue to develop as 
outline in Section B, 5.4 of the report to support more people in 
Telford and Wrekin.  

 
The meeting ended at 10.59 am 
 
Signed for the purposes of the Decision Notices 

 
Anthea Lowe 
Associate Director: Policy & Governance 
Date:  Wednesday, 15 JULY 2020 
 

 
Signed  

 
Date: 

 
Thursday, 24 September 2020 

Page 10



 1 

 
 

TELFORD & WREKIN COUNCIL 
 
CABINET – 24/09/20  
 
TELFORD & WREKIN LOCAL PLAN REVIEW, ISSUES & OPTIONS 
CONSULTATION  
 
REPORT OF DIRECTOR – HOUSING, EMPLOYMENT & 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
 
LEAD CABINET MEMBER – CLLR FOR ECONOMY, HOUSING, 
TRANSPORT & INFRASTRUCTURE  

 
 
PART A) – SUMMARY REPORT 
 
1. SUMMARY OF KEY ISSUES AND MAIN PROPOSALS 

 

1.1 Telford & Wrekin Council has to plan for the Borough’s future 

development needs.  This includes addressing current social and 

economic challenges and planning for the next phase of growth of the 

Borough.   The Review of the Telford & Wrekin Local Plan (TWLP), 

launched in January, is central to ensuring that growth continues to be 

delivered in a sustainable and measured way that benefits the 

environment, communities and the economy of the borough.  

 

1.2 The review provides the Council with a means of proactively addressing 

the economic challenges we currently face providing opportunities to 

support a swifter economic ‘bounce back’ and develop stronger, more 

resilient communities.  It is also a key means to support the delivery of the 

Council’s commitment to address Climate Change. 

 

1.3 In January the Council established four core objectives to underpin the 

review:  

 Employment led growth through inward investment and job creation  

 A ‘Forest Community’ approach which affords the protection, 
enhancement and accessibility of the natural environment and 
green spaces that characterise the Borough 

 Support for regeneration of our Borough Towns, new town estates 
and infrastructure 

 Meet local housing needs including providing more affordable and 
specialist accommodation to support people to live longer and 
healthier at home 

 

Page 11

Agenda Item 5



 2 

1.4 These continue to be the drivers for the review with a clear priority to 

balance the need and opportunities to be derived from growth with the 

enhancement of the Borough’s environment and greenspaces which 

characterise the Town and are valued by local communities. 

 

1.5 The Review, is now entering the next stage.  An Issues & Options 

document has been prepared for public consultation and Cabinet are 

asked to note its content. The document is proposed to go out for public 

consultation between the 12th October and 4th December and will be 

supported by a communications strategy that focusses on digital 

measures. The Issues & Options document includes;  

 

 policy proposals put forward by the Council,  

 a new employment land requirement for the borough,  

 options for the boroughs new housing requirement,  

 options for the distribution of the housing development, and  

 proposals to help deliver a carbon neutral borough.  

 

1.6 This stage of the plan-making process does not identify sites for 

development.  The consultation responses will inform the development of 

the Council’s development strategy which will be set out in the Preferred 

Options stage.  This will be subject to further public consultation, 

anticipated in mid-2021. 

 

1.7 In August the Government published the Planning for the Future White 

Paper.  This is currently subject to public consultation and, depending on 

the outcome of that, if the proposals are to be brought into force, 

amendments to legislation will be required.  Central to the Government’s 

concern is maintaining pace in the delivery of Local Plans and ensuring 

that development supports housing delivery and economic recovery and 

growth. The approach set out by the Government would see the 

development needs for the borough largely determined at a national level 

if all proposals are taken forward.   

 

1.8 A delay in bringing forward the review to await the final outcome of the 

Government’s White Paper would detrimentally affect the boroughs ability 

to ‘bounce back’ post-recession. A delay would lead to a position where 

the Council could not respond positively to inward investment 

opportunities and new jobs, was unable to deliver vital infrastructure 

including enhancing the Borough’s greenspaces that have become ever 

more important in recent months and less able to properly respond to 

meet local housing needs.  It would also limit the Council’s ability to 

address climate change and plan for clean growth.  

 

Page 12



 3 

 

 
 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

2.1 That Cabinet note the content of the report and the appendices 

2.2 That Cabinet authorise the Director Housing, Employment & 

Infrastructure (and any other officer authorised in writing by this 

postholder) to exercise all the Council’s powers (besides those 

which are non-executive powers) under the relevant provisions of 

the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and of the Town 

and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 

and all other enabling legislation, relating to preparation, publication, 

consultation and processing, to progress the delivery of the Local 

Plan Review. 

2.3 That Cabinet authorise the Director: Housing Employment & 

Infrastructure, Housing and Communities (and any other officer 

authorised in writing by this postholder) to exercise the Council’s 

powers relating to its duty to cooperate in relation to the planning of 

sustainable development as set out in Section 33A Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and any other associated legislation 

and guidance. 

2.4 That Cabinet  authorise the Director: Housing Employment & 

Infrastructure, Housing and Communities (and any other officer 

authorised in writing by this postholder) to enter into formal 

arrangements with any person or body referred to or prescribed in 

accordance with Section 33A Planning and Compulsory Purchase 

Act 2004 and any other associated legislation and guidance and  

authorise the Lead Cabinet Member for Economy, Housing, 

Transport and Infrastructure also to sign and confirm the Council’s 

agreement to those formal arrangements if required. 

3. SUMMARY IMPACT ASSESSMENT  
 
COMMUNI
TY IMPACT 

Do these proposals contribute to specific Co-Operative Council priority 
objective(s)? 

Yes The review of the TWLP contributes towards all Co-operative 
Council priority objectives.  

Will the proposals impact on specific groups of people? 

Yes The impact will be borough wide  

TARGET 
COMPLETI
ON/DELIVE
RY DATE 

 Cabinet approval to consult on Issues & Options Document – 

October – December 2020 

 Cabinet approve Preferred Options Document for consultation – 

Spring 2021 

Page 13



 4 

  Cabinet approve Publication Plan and final stage of consultation – 

Autumn 2021 

 Cabinet approve submission of Plan to Planning Inspectorate – 

(date) 

 Full Council approve submission of (Reviewed) Publication Plan – 

(date) 

 Adoption at Full Council – dates subject to outcome of independent 

examination 

FINANCIAL
/ VALUE 
FOR 
MONEY 
IMPACT 

Yes   The Local Plan review obtained Cabinet approval on 2nd January 
2020 with total funding of £946k, including £391k approved from 
Capacity fund.  
 
This funding covers all activities within the Local Plan review 
including the Issues & Options consultation process.  
(AEM 24/08/20)    

LEGAL 
ISSUES 

Yes  Regulation 10A of the 2012 Town and Country Planning (local 
Planning) (England) Regulations requires local planning 
authorities to review local plans at least once every 5 years. The 
product of the review will be a new Local Plan document and 
rules within the 2012 Regulations and the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 have to be applied in the 
processing of the review. Regulation 18 of the 2012 Regulations 
requires the Council to notify certain bodies/persons of the 
subject of the proposed local plan and invite them to make 
representations to the Council about what the local plan ought to 
contain. The Council then continues to prepare the local plan 
and must take into account any representation received. After 
this Regulation 18 stage is completed, the Council prepares the 
version of the local plan which it considers is ready for 
submission to the Secretary of State for independent 
examination. Approval of the version of the local plan to be 
submitted to the Secretary of State will require a decision of Full 
Council. The purpose of the independent examination is to 
determine whether, in respect of the reviewed local plan, a 
number of specified requirements are satisfied and whether the 
local plan is “sound”. The independent examiner is required to 
make recommendations to the Council and give reasons for 
those recommendations. The outcome of this stage of the 
process may be a recommendation that the local plan be 
adopted or that it not be adopted or the independent examiner 
may recommend modifications which enable the Council to 
adopt. Adoption of the local plan is a non-executive function to 
be exercised by Full Council.  

Section 33A Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 
places a legal duty on local planning authorities and 
prescribed public bodies to engage constructively, actively 
and on an ongoing basis to maximise the effectiveness of 
local plan and in the context of strategic cross boundary 
matters. Officers are responding to this duty as required 
and as explained in this report. 
(IR04.09.20) 

Page 14



 5 

OTHER 
IMPACTS, 
RISKS & 
OPPORTU
NITIES 

Yes Impacts – a review will have a positive impact on the wider 
regeneration and development agenda and enable the Council 
to refresh policies, secure inward investment and jobs, contribute 
positively to regeneration of town and district centres and protect 
and enhance the natural environment and green spaces.   
Risks – A delay in the Review timetable will increase the risk of 
Local Plan policies being deemed out of date and the Council 
unable to maintain its Five Year Housing Land Supply exposing 
the Borough to speculative housing pressures.   
Opportunities – the Review process is the most effective means 
of maintaining a relevant and up to date plan at the same time as 
addressing the land supply needs of the Borough.  

IMPACT 
ON 
SPECIFIC 
WARDS 

No Borough wide  

Page 15



 6 

(PART B) – ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 
4. INFORMATION 

 

Introduction  

 

4.1 Telford & Wrekin Council has to plan for the boroughs future development 

needs, this includes meeting the current economic challenges as well as 

looking beyond to the next phase of growth for the area. The Review of 

the Telford & Wrekin Local Plan (TWLP) will be critical to ensuring that 

growth continues to be delivered in a sustainable and measured way that 

benefits the environment, communities and economy of the borough.  

 

4.2 Telford Development Corporation planned infrastructure to accommodate 

a population of 225,000 for Telford. The current population of the borough 

is around 179,850 so this next phase of the boroughs growth will see the 

borough, and Telford in particular, start to reach its full economic potential.  

 

4.3 Cabinet approved the review of the Telford & Wrekin Local Plan in 

January 2020 underpinned by 4 strategic objectives: 

 Employment led growth through inward investment and job creation  

 A ‘Forest Community’ approach which affords the protection, 
enhancement and accessibility of the natural environment and 
green spaces that characterise the Borough 

 Support for regeneration of our Borough Towns, new town estates 
and infrastructure 

 Meet local housing needs including providing more affordable and 
specialist accommodation to support people to live longer and 
healthier at home 

 
4.4 A clear priority for the review and the TWLP going forward will be to 

balance the need for growth with protection of the boroughs green space. 

The uniqueness of Telford is to a large extent down to the areas of 

publicly accessible green space including Local Nature Reserves, Wildlife 

Sites, Green Guarantee sites and ‘green network’. The review will provide 

an opportunity to reinforce the protection of existing green space as well 

as create new ecologically valuable areas through new development that 

can positively contribute towards tackling climate change.  

 

4.5 The Issues & Options consultation is the next stage of the review process 

and will provide an opportunity for feedback on options for growth, the 

distribution of growth as well as proposals for the development 

management policies within the plan.  This will inform the Council’s 

development strategy and the Preferred Options stage of the review.  

 

Page 16



 7 

Issues & Options (I&O) Document  

 

4.6 The I&O document includes: 

 The proposed extension of the TWLP to 2040 

 Proposals for refocussing  the vision and aims of the plan to address 
changes in legislation and local circumstances as well as new priorities 
for the borough  

 Proposals for amending (and introducing new) development 
management policies within the plan  

 A new employment land requirement for the borough  

 Options for the boroughs new housing requirement  

 The proposed methodology for selecting new development sites within 
the borough 

 proposals to help deliver a carbon neutral borough. 

 
4.7 The I&O document identifies six development priorities that the TWLP will 

need to focus on moving forward.  These are based on the four objectives 

underpinning the review that were identified in the 2 January Cabinet 

Report and add emphasis to addressing climate change and building 

resilient, healthy communities:  

 Tackling climate change and achieving carbon neutrality  

 Protection and enhancement of green and natural environment  

 Maximising inward investment and job opportunities  

 Securing better homes for all  

 Delivering stronger communities through regeneration and 

renewal  

 Improving health, wellbeing and tackling health inequalities 

 

4.8 The evidence base for the Council’s employment and housing 

requirements is provided through the Economic & Housing Development 

Needs Assessment (EHDNA). The Scoping Report for the Integrated 

Appraisal provides baseline information for the Integrated Appraisal of the 

plan. These documents will be published alongside the I&O document as 

part of the consultation.  

 

4.9 The Council are currently carrying out a call for sites which closes on the 

8th January 2021. This process will inform the Council’s land supply 

position. The Council are therefore taking an open approach to the I&O 

consultation and will consider other reasonable alternative development 

strategies that may be put forward through the consultation, that are 

supported by appropriate technical evidence and justification.  

 

 

 

Page 17



 8 

New and Updated Policy Proposals 
 

4.10 The I&O document sets out proposals to amend some development 

management policies and the inclusion of new policies where necessary, 

based on:  

 Addressing the Council’s strategic priorities – for example, a range 

of proposals are included that help to tackle climate change in areas 

such as urban greening, electric vehicle infrastructure, renewable 

energy and the protection of green space.  Policy proposals also seek 

to support the regeneration of town and district centres and address 

the renewal of our older estates 

 Legislative or regulatory changes that need to be incorporated 

into updated policies – an example of this is the introduction of bio-

diversity net gain  

 A need to update policy – this is where, for example, policies refer to 

figures that will require updating as a result of the review such as a 

new requirements for housing and employment land  

 

4.11 Changes to the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) require the 

Council to consider viability at the plan making stage. As such, a whole 

plan viability assessment will be used to test proposed policies and this 

will inform the development of the Preferred Option stage of this review.  

 

The Boroughs Future Employment Land Requirement  

 

4.12 To support growth the Council need to bring forward further employment 

land supply. The TWLP allocates 148.5ha of employment land of which 

100ha is either completed or in the planning process. This leaves a 

balance of 48ha available to respond to inward investment opportunities. 

This take up of land supply is a mark of the Borough’s success in 

attracting inward investment but is also a challenge as it reduces flexibility 

in responding to inward investment enquiries, especially for industrial and 

commercial land. To maintain a strong competitive economy and create 

jobs the Council recognise the need to provide additional employment 

land supply.  

 

4.13 The EHDNA provides the evidence base to inform options for the Council’ 

s employment land requirements. The evidence supports options between 

167ha and 189ha of employment land between 2020 and 2040.  Once 

existing employment land supply is taken into account the requirement 

proposed is an additional 77ha – 99ha of employment land over the plan 

period. The Council will be seeking to deliver additional flexibility in the 

choice and supply of employment land over the requirement figures 

above.  

Page 18



 9 

 

The Borough’s Future Housing Requirements  

 

4.14 The extension of the TWLP until 2040 will allow the Council to plan for 

growth beyond the immediate period of recession. There are a number of 

key benefits of forward planning growth: 

 It gives certainty to local communities about the location of growth over 

the medium to long term. The absence of planned growth would 

expose local communities to speculative housing growth.  

 Planned housing growth enables Councils to secure community 

benefits such investment in education facilities, public transport and 

walking and cycling infrastructure.  

 It provides certainty and confidence in the local economy especially in 

the local construction sector.  

 To do this the Council is required to ‘reset’ the boroughs housing 

requirement from 2020 – 2040 and to consult on alternative scenarios 

for growth.  

 

4.15 Three scenarios for the boroughs housing requirements up to 2040 are 

set out within the I&O document: 

  

 An option which will address the boroughs economic growth. This 

scenario is below the housing growth target in the existing TWLP and 

below recent rates of housing delivery. This scenario would result in a 

housing requirement of 16,960 homes (8,065 net new homes through 

allocations1).    

 An option that meets the boroughs economic growth ambitions and 

population projections. This option is based on housing required to 

meet the Council’s economic growth as well as providing scope to 

stimulate additional economic activity by delivering more flexibility in 

the labour force as a result of meeting future population projections. 

This scenario is broadly in line with the average annual rate of housing 

completions in the borough since 2011. This scenario would result in a 

total housing requirement of 19,280 homes (10,385 net new homes 

through allocations).   

 A housing led option which is based on the delivery of a certain 

number of homes over the plan period. This option allows the Council 

to test the benefits of higher housing growth including a greater 

proportion of affordable housing. This option could also provide 

                                                 
1 There are currently 8,895 homes with planning approval.  This figure is deducted from the housing 

requirement and the net figure is the number of new homes which would need to be allocated in the 

Plan  

 

Page 19



 10 

additional benefits around economic growth as well as infrastructure 

delivery through new development. By way of comparison this scenario 

is broadly in line with the best performance of the housing market over 

the previous 5 years. This scenario would result in a housing 

requirement figure of 23,000 homes (14,105 net new homes through 

allocations over the next 20 years).   

Summary Table of Consultation Options 
 

New 

Allocations 

2020-2040 

Economic 

Growth 

Economic 

Ambition & 

Population 

Growth 

Housing-Led 

Housing 

Requirement 

16,960 19,280 23,000 

Houses with 

planning 

approval but not 

yet built 

8,895 8,895 8,895 

New housing to 

be allocated* 

8,065 10,385 14,105 

*Housing requirement net of houses with planning approval 

 

4.16 Prior to the White Paper, the Government launched a consultation on 

changes to the standard methodology for the calculation of housing need2.  

Should Government adopt these proposals the calculated housing need 

figure for Telford & Wrekin is anticipated to be 9413 homes per annum. 

Over the plan period this would equate to a baseline housing requirement 

of 18,820 homes, as indicated by Central Government’s proposals, up to 

2040 and a net allocation figure of 9,925 new homes. The consultation 

closes on the 1 October and the Council will monitor changes that may 

result and will respond accordingly at the next stage of the TWLP review.  

 

4.17 Given the level of development under construction or with permission in 

Telford the review will need to consider the need to extend Telford beyond 

its existing urban boundary to accommodate additional growth to 2040. 

This is likely to happen under any of the potential housing requirement 

options and under the housing baseline figures that the government are 

consulting on in terms of housing need. Such an approach also accords 

with the Council’s commitment to protect and enhance the interconnected, 

accessible green spaces that characterise the Town, support biodiversity 

                                                 
2 Changes to the current planning system (August 2020) 
3 Lichfield’s  https://lichfields.uk/grow-renew-protect-planning-for-the-future/how-many-homes-
the-new-standard-method/#section18 

Page 20

https://lichfields.uk/grow-renew-protect-planning-for-the-future/how-many-homes-the-new-standard-method/#section18
https://lichfields.uk/grow-renew-protect-planning-for-the-future/how-many-homes-the-new-standard-method/#section18


 11 

and climate change and to prevent the over-intensification of development 

within the Town. Such proposals would be expected to deliver high 

quality, sustainable ‘places’ that address the Plan’s priorities and are well 

connected to existing urban areas. 

 

Options for the Distribution of Growth Requirements  

 

4.18 As a borough with two urban centres of Telford and Newport and a 

surrounding rural area means there are a limited number of potential 

options for the distribution of growth.  The existing TWLP focusses the 

majority of growth into Telford with a smaller % into Newport and the Rural 

Area.  It is anticipated that this broad distribution will be maintained 

because: 

  

 Telford is the main Town recognised by the Council and reflected in the 

Marches LEP Strategic Economic Plan.   

 Telford Development Corporation developed infrastructure to 

accommodate a population of 225,000. Although patterns of movement 

and employment may have changed the ‘trunk infrastructure’ is in place 

to support further growth within or connected to the Town.  

 A distribution of growth significantly above the proportions set out 

below would dramatically alter the built environment and character of 

Newport and the rural area. It would also put potentially unacceptable 

burdens on development in the provision of extensive new highway 

infrastructure and other infrastructure such as drainage and utilities 

provision. 

 A strategy for the dispersal of growth across Telford, Newport and the 

rural area would reduce the potential to secure benefits from larger 

sites such as Sustainable Urban Extensions including; renewable 

energy provision, a better mix of housing, mixed use development and 

the provision of publically accessible green space.  

 

4.19 Focussing on Telford, Newport and the rural area four options for the 

distribution of the boroughs housing requirement have been included for 

consultation in the I&O document, these include:  

 

 Option 1. Maintaining continuity with the adopted TWLP with 

Telford remaining the focus for growth, but with some new housing in 

the rural area and Newport. This option is included as:  

o It maintains consistency with the existing Local Plan strategy and 

focuses growth on Telford 

o Telford is the best connected and well served area for employment, 

services and facilities  

Page 21



 12 

o It is focuses development in an area that can be served more easily 

by public sector agencies including police, fire, ambulance and NHS 

o It provides the best opportunity to plan for and deliver infrastructure 

over the plan period  

 

 Option 2. Increased levels of growth within the rural area. This 

option would see some additional growth within the rural area and less 

growth focussed on Telford. This option is included as:  

o It provides an opportunity to test the benefits of additional housing 

growth in the rural area including more affordable provision  

o It provides an opportunity to test alternative distribution options for 

housing in the rural area including allocated development sites, 

additional key settlements and / or infill within existing villages  

o It supports the long term sustainability and viability of village services 

and facilities through increased housing within the rural area 

o It has the potential to increase economic activity in the rural area and 

grow local businesses.  

 

 Option 3. Increased levels of growth within Newport. This option 

would see some additional growth in Newport and less growth 

focussed on Telford. This option is included as:  

o It provides an opportunity to test the benefits of additional development 

in the Newport area that could include infrastructure improvements and 

additional affordable housing.  

o Further growth in Newport could support the sustainability of the town 

centre and provide opportunities for mixed employment and housing 

development  

 

 Option 4. Increased growth for the rural area and Newport. This 

would see a quarter of the housing requirement split evenly between 

the rural area and Newport and less development focussed on Telford. 

This option is included as:  

o It provides an opportunity to test an increase in levels of growth in 

Newport and the rural area.  

o Further growth in both areas provides greater opportunity to support 

the sustainability of the both Newport and the rural area and address 

housing affordability.  

 

4.20 The chart below sets out the proposed distribution options for housing 

growth between Telford, Newport and the rural area.  

 

Page 22



 13 

 

 
4.21 The Council are seeking comments and views on policy options, the 

development requirement scenarios and options for distribution of 

growth and are not at this stage in the review process identifying a 

preferred option. The strategy for growth will be determined as part of 

developing the plan (as reviewed) and consulted on at the Preferred 

Options Stage.   

 

Duty to Cooperate 

 

4.22 Local authorities are expected to address strategic cross boundary 

matters in development plans and demonstrate how they have engaged in 

strategic planning through the 'Duty to Cooperate'. This is a legal 

obligation and a matter of soundness with which the Council is required to 

comply.  

 

4.23 The Duty requires: Councils and public bodies to "...engage 

constructively, actively and on an ongoing basis...‟ to develop strategic 

policies. The scope for such engagement is broad but, typically, 

discussions cover housing, waste and minerals management, traffic 

impacts and reviewing how environmentally sensitive sites in one local 

authority will be protected as a result of growth being promoted in another 

one.    

 

4.24 The Duty to Cooperate is not a 'duty to agree'. However, all local planning 

authorities are expected to demonstrate evidence of having cooperated to 

plan for issues with cross-boundary impacts when their local plans are 

submitted for examination. Where there are cross boundary matters local 

authorities discharge this Duty by agreeing memoranda of understanding. 

86% 78% 78% 75%

8%
8% 14% 12.5%

6% 14% 8% 12.5%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

Option 1. Maintain
current strategy

Option 2. Rural growth Option 3. Newport
growth

Option 4. Rural and
Newport growth

Options for the Distribution of Housing 

Telford Newport Rural area

Page 23



 14 

The Council will engage with nearby local authorities in the review of the 

TWLP and will continue to engage with them as they prepare their Local 

Plans/documents.   

 

4.25 The Council have, for example, been approached by the Association of 

Black Country Authorities to assist meeting their unmet development 

needs. The Council has maintained the view (endorsed at the 

Examination in Public of the TWLP) that insufficient evidence is available 

to support such a request. However, to accord with the Duty to Cooperate 

the Council will continue to engage in dialogue with the ABCA and keep 

this issue under review. 

 

4.26 It is proposed that the powers regarding the exercise of the Council’s duty 

to cooperate be delegated to the Director: Housing Employment & 

Infrastructure, This will enable this Director to negotiate, agree and enter 

into arrangements with other bodies/local planning authorities including 

memoranda of understanding to demonstrate how the Council has 

cooperated with neighbouring authorities. The lead Cabinet Member will 

be kept informed and formal arrangements may need to be signed by an 

elected member(s). 

 

Next steps  

 

4.27 The I&O document is proposed to be published for public consultation 

between the 12th October and 4th December. Following the conclusion of 

the I&O consultation and consideration of the responses the Council will:  

 

 Finalise the Strategic Housing & Employment Land Availability 

Assessment following the close of the Call for Sites on the 8 January 

2021 

 Commence preparation of the Preferred Options Stage of consultation, 

including the preparation of a draft set of land allocations and an 

amended Local Plan.   

 Keep under review progress with the Government’s White Paper 

‘Planning for the Future’. (At this stage of the review and given the 

potential uncertainty around the form and implementation of new 

legislation it is considered appropriate to continue with the I&O 

consultation.)  

 

4.28 The consultation will be supported by a comprehensive communications 

strategy that will include:  

 Promotion of the consultation through social media, the Council’s 

website and press releases to local outlets 

Page 24



 15 

 Making consultation documents available on the Council’s website  

 Provision of consultation documents for inspection in main Council 

buildings (Addenbrooke, South Water One, Wellington Civic Offices 

and key libraries) 

 Promotion by e-mail to parties registered on the Council’s Planning 

Policy consultation database, Parish Councils, elected Members and 

stakeholder organisations 

 Direct engagement with stakeholder groups via video conferencing 

5. IMPACT ASSESSMENT – ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 

6. PREVIOUS MINUTES 
16th June 2016, Cabinet 
2nd January 2020, Cabinet 
 

7. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
National Planning Policy Framework 
National Planning Practice Guidance 
Council’s Statement of Community Involvement 
Council’s Local Development Framework 

 
Annexes  

 
 Annex 1 – Issues & Options consultation document  
 
Report prepared by Gavin Ashford, Strategic Planning Team Leader, 
Telephone: 01952 384260 
 
  

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Review of Telford and Wrekin 

Local Plan 
 

 
ISSUES & 

OPTIONS PAPER 
 

September 2020 

Page 27



31 How to respond to the Issues & Options consultation

31.1 How to respond to the Issues & Options consultation

42 Why are we reviewing the Local Plan?

42.1 Introduction

62.2 Wider planning framework for Telford & Wrekin

72.3 Changes to the National Planning Policy Framework

82.4 Government planning consultations

82.5 Changes to permitted development rights

93 What does the Issues & Options document cover?

93.1 Introduction

114 Performance of the adopted Plan

114.1 Introduction

175 Development of the Vision and Strategy

175.1 Development Vision

276 Development requirement options

276.1 Introduction

276.2 Existing land supply

286.3 Employment land requirement

296.4 Housing requirement options

317 Distribution of Growth

317.1 Introduction

337.2 Options for the distribution of growth

357.3 Distribution considerations for Telford and Newport

367.4 Distribution considerations for the rural area

378 Review of development management policies

378.1 Introduction

388.2 Viability

388.3 Supporting policy text

388.4 Economy

458.5 Housing

558.6 Natural environment

Page 28



8.7 Community 63

668.8 Connections

708.9 Built environment & heritage

788.10 Environmental resources

829 Next Steps

829.1 Introduction

829.2 Call for sites and SHELAA

839.3 Integrated appraisal

849.4 Duty to Cooperate

859.5 Telford & Wrekin's role in the region

859.6 What happens after the Issues & Options consultation

8610 Appendix 1: Site selection methodology

Contents

Page 29



1 How to respond to the Issues & Options consultation

1.1 How to respond to the Issues & Options consultation

Issues & Options Consultation - 12 October 2020 - 4 December 2020

We are seeking comments on the proposals in this document by 4th December 2020. We would
encourage you to view the documents and to comment on them using the consultation portal
(https://telford-consult.objective.co.uk/portal/) as this will not only save paper, but will also help
the Council with processing comments received.

Where the Council is seeking specific feedback, questions have been included within the
document in boxes marked up as below:

Example

Question: Do you have any comments to make on the proposed amendments to this policy?

If you do not have access to the internet you can request a paper copy of the representation
form from the Strategic Planning Team on 01952 384241. The consultation documents and
forms will also be made available during the consultation period at First Point receptions in
Telford & Wrekin Council buildings and at your local Telford & Wrekin library.

The deadline for consultation comments is 5pm on Friday 4 December 2020.

How to be kept up to date with the review of the Local Plan

We are keen to engage with local residents, business community and a wide range of
stakeholders as we review the Telford & Wrekin Local Plan 2011-2031. If you would like to be
kept informed and engaged at each stage of this review you can register or amend your details
for contact at the Planning Policy webpage on the Telford & Wrekin Council website, then via
Planning Policy Consultations page click on the Consultation Portal link. Alternatively please
send your contact details by email to LocalPlan@telford.gov.uk.

Further detail on how the Council will engage residents and stakeholders in the review can be
found at www.telford.gov.uk/statementofcommunityinvolvement.

Confidentiality and data protection

Telford & Wrekin Council's Strategic Planning Team are collecting your personal data through
the engagement opportunities presented in this document. All representations received in
response to this consultation will be considered by the Council and published following redaction
of personal details. Representations will be published at the website link below, as well as further
information and Local Plan Review updates www.telford.gov.uk/localplanreview.

This consultation will enable a well-informed and considered Local Plan that supports the
sustainable growth of the borough and meets the statutory requirements under the Town and
Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012, wider legislation and Article
6(1)(e) of the General Data Protection Regulations 2018 or equivalent United Kingdom legislation.Page 30

https://telford-consult.objective.co.uk/portal/
https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20172/planning_policy_and_strategy
https://www.telford.gov.uk/info/20471/consultations_and_emerging_policies
mailto:LocalPlan@telford.gov.uk
http://www.telford.gov.uk/statementofcommunityinvolvement
http://www.telford.gov.uk/localplanreview


Telford & Wrekin Council will not share any of your personal data with external organisations
unless required/permitted to do so by law. For further details on the Council’s privacy
arrangements please view the privacy page on the Council’s website page.

2 Why are we reviewing the Local Plan?

2.1 Introduction

2.1.1 Telford & Wrekin Council has to plan for the borough’s future development needs and
this includes meeting the current economic challenges and opportunities as well as looking
beyond to the next phase of growth for the area. The Review of the Telford & Wrekin Local Plan
(TWLP) is critical to ensuring that growth continues to be delivered in a sustainable andmeasured
way that benefits the environment, communities and economy of the borough.

2.1.2 The Council has identified four core objectives underpinning the review, these are:

1. Employment led growth through inward investment and job creation.
2. A ‘Forest Community’ approach which affords the protection, enhancement and

accessibility of the natural environment and green spaces that characterise the
borough.

3. Support for regeneration of our borough towns, new town estates and infrastructure.
4. Meet local housing needs including providing more affordable and specialist

accommodation to support people to live longer and healthier at home.

Wrekin Forest

2.1.3 The review provides the Council with a means of proactively addressing the economic
challenges we currently face. The Government has recently published a consultation White
Paper setting out proposals for changes to the planning system in the future. However the
outcome of this is unclear and could take some time to be determined and implemented. The
Council is continuing with the review as a delay at this stage would detrimentally affect the
borough’s ability to ‘bounce back’ post-recession. It would also lead to a position where the
Council could not respond positively to inward investment opportunities, thereby missing vital
opportunities to create new jobs and could be left in a position where the Council is unable to
resist speculative development proposals.

TWLP Review Issues & Options

Page 31

http://www.telford.gov.uk/terms


2.1.4 Telford Development Corporation planned infrastructure to accommodate a population
of 225,000 for Telford. The current population of the borough is 179,850 and this next phase
of growth will see the borough, and Telford in particular, start to reach its full economic potential
but in a measured way.

2.1.5 A priority for the review and the TWLP going forward will be to balance the need for
growth with protection of the borough’s green space. The uniqueness of Telford is characterised
by the extent of publicly accessible green space including Local Nature Reserves, Wildlife Sites,
Green Guarantee sites and the ‘green network’ in Telford and Newport. The review will provide
an opportunity to reinforce the protection of existing green space, ensure that communities
continue to be able to enjoy accessible greenspaces as well as to create new ecologically
valuable areas through new development that can positively contribute towards tackling climate
change.

2.1.6 The purpose of a review is to take account of “changing circumstances affecting the
area, or any relevant changes in national policy” (1). The borough needs to comply with
Regulations (2) and ensure its Local Plan is up-to-date and in conformity with the revisions to
the National Planning Policy Framework, 2019 (NPPF).

2.1.7 Commencing a review provides an opportunity to embed Council and Community
priorities for the borough and pro-actively:

Respond to the Council’s declaration of the Climate Change Emergency by ensuring new
development plays a ‘front and centre’ role in meeting the call for a carbon neutral borough
by 2030;
Reflect the Council priorities (3) to ‘protect, care and invest’ in Telford and Wrekin and use
them as a basis for updating the Local Plan vision, aims and objectives.
Protect and enhance the borough’s wealth of green spaces through investment in new
areas of biodiversity and the natural environment;
Meeting the housing needs of our borough including providing choice and homes that will
support people to live independently at home
Ensure the Local Plan is central to supporting the Council’s Covid-19 recovery strategy
and ensuring all communities benefit from growth;
Address the changing face and role of local, district and town centres and new town housing
to help build stronger communities that are economically, socially and environmentally
resilient;
Ensure that we have the employment land supply to compete for inward investment, support
growth, diversify the economy and create jobs; and
Secure investment in transformational infrastructure projects that will help promote Telford’s
role as a regional centre for leisure, tourism and business.

1 Paragraph 33, National Planning Policy Framework, 2019
2 The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012.
3 Telford &Wrekin Council: ‘Our programme to protect, care and invest in our borough’, 2019Page 32



What is the Local Plan

The Local Plan is the adopted Development Plan for the borough, it is central to delivering
plan led growth and is the starting point for assessing planning applications. The Local Plan
forms the main part of the borough’s ‘Development Plan’. The Local Plan is formed of two
parts;

1) A set of development management policies which all planning applications are assessed
against; and

2) A set of housing and employment sites allocated for development.

The borough’s Development Plan also includes Neighbourhood Development Plans (NDPs)
which provide additional policies set at a Parish or Town Council level which respond to
more local circumstances. The following areas currently have NDPs; Waters Upton Parish,
Madeley Town Council, Edgmond Parish Council, Newport Town Council and Lilleshall
Parish Council.

The Local Plan was adopted in January 2018.

Once adopted, the reviewed Telford & Wrekin Local Plan will be the development plan by
which all future planning applications will be determined (alongside the NPPF and locally
prepared Neighbourhood Development Plans).

The plan (as reviewed) will supersede the version adopted in January 2018.

2.2 Wider planning framework for Telford & Wrekin

2.2.1 The Local Development Plan plays a key role in identifying the requirements for growth,
locations suitable for growth as well as the policies that help shape growth. This is not done in
isolation, but is part of a wider framework of plans and policies for the delivery of services,
infrastructure and growth within the Council as set out below.

TWLP Review Issues & Options

Page 33



Picture Local Development Plan

2.2.2 The TWLP is a corporate plan that impacts on a range of other Council services who
have and will continue to be engaged in the review. These services include, but are not limited
to:

Education
Neighbourhood Services
Drainage
Leisure & Culture
Public Protection
Waste Management

2.3 Changes to the National Planning Policy Framework

2.3.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out the Government’s planning
policies for England including a framework for producing local plans. The NPPF was updated
in July 2018 and February 2019. In order to maintain an up to date Development Plan it is
important for the Council incorporate those changes into the Local Plan.

2.3.2 The NPPF requires local plan policies to be reviewed at least every five years from the
date of adoption, and updated as necessary thereafter.

2.3.3 Several changes have been made to specific topics these include revisions to the
affordable housing definition and policy requirements, requirements for identifying land and
making effective use of land, and emphasis on achieving well-designed places through clear
design vision and expectations in local plans. The detailed changes that influence proposals in
this Issues & Options document will be addressed in the relevant policy sections below.

Page 34



2.4 Government planning consultations

2.4.1 The Government published the consultation ‘Planning for the Future’ White Paper on
6 August 2020. The consultation document proposes to reform the planning system in England,
to streamline and modernise the planning process, improve outcomes on design and
sustainability, reform developer contributions and ensure more land is available for development
where it is needed.

2.4.2 The consultation covers a package of proposals including plan-making, development
management, development contributions, and other related policy proposals. Several changes
are proposed to the form and content of local plans which include setting out clear rules for
development, identifying site and area-specific requirements, alongside a greater focus on
design quality at the local level. The current system of planning obligations is also proposed to
be reformed as a nationally set, value-based flat rate change, with a single rate or varied rates
set.

2.4.3 The Government is also separately consulting on several changes(4)to planning policy
and regulations proposed to be made in the shorter term the four main proposals are:

Changes to the standard method for assessing local housing need.
Securing of First Homes through developer contributions.
Temporarily lifting the small sites threshold.
Extending the current Permission in Principle to major development.

2.4.4 Consultation on these changes closed on 1 October 2020 and consultation on theWhite
Paper closes on 29 October 2020. At this stage there is no certainty around what proposals
will be carried forward and when they will be implemented; however, the consultation emphasises
the importance of Local Plans and ensuring these are in place and up-to-date. It is therefore
appropriate that the Council proceeds with the review of its Local Plan and monitors the
consultation outcome. Changes that are adopted via legislation will be considered as part of
subsequent stages of this review.

2.5 Changes to permitted development rights

2.5.1 The Government has introduced legislative changes which include extending permitted
development rights for residential development to allow the demolition of commercial and/or
residential and building residential in its place(5); and for adding storeys to buildings to create
residential floor space(6). There have also been significant changes to the Use Classes Order(7)

which allow greater flexibility to change uses within town centres through three new broad use
classes. These legislative changes were introduced during August and September 2020 and
will therefore inform future stages of the review.

4 Changes to the current planning system: Consultation on changes to planning policy and
regulations, 2020.

5 The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) (Amendment)
(No. 3) Order 2020.

6 The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) (Amendment)
(No. 2) Order 2020.

7 The Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2020.

TWLP Review Issues & Options

Page 35



3 What does the Issues & Options document cover?

3.1 Introduction

3.1.1 This consultation covers the Issues & Options stage of the review of the adopted Telford
& Wrekin Local Plan (the Local Plan). The review will ensure the Council maintains an up to
date Local Development Plan by:

Incorporating any changes in the NPPF since the adoption of the Local Plan;
Ensuing it reflects Council priorities for the borough;
Addressing any other relevant legislative or regulatory changes that the Local Plan needs
to take into account;
Takes account of any changes in international, national and local circumstances that would
affect the growth of the borough; and
Ensuring the Council maintains a supply of land to meet its development needs into the
future.

3.1.2 This Issues &Options document sets out proposed changes to the Local Plan including:

The proposed extension of the Local Plan to 2040;
Proposals for refocusing of the vision and aims of the Plan ;
Proposals for amending development management policies within the plan;
Options for meeting the borough's development requirements up to 2040; and
The proposed methodology for selecting new development sites within the borough.

3.1.3 The document is structured into nine sections with supporting appendices. These
include:

Section 1 Introduction

This section provides a brief explanation of the role of the Local Plan and the contents of this
Issues and Options consultation document.

Section 2 Why are we reviewing the Local Plan?

This section covers the key drivers for the review including strategic and local issues that the
review will need to consider as well as a summary of legislative changes that will need to be
picked up as part of the review.

Section 3 What does the Issues & Options document cover?

This section details the extent of the document and its chapters.

Section 4 Performance of the adopted Plan

This section summarises the contribution the Local Plan has had to the borough’s economic,
housing and environmental performance.

Section 5 Development of the Vision and Strategy

The review of the development vision for the borough and proposed strategic priorities are
covered in this section. Page 36



Section 6 Development requirement options

This section sets out options for the borough’s employment and housing land requirements.

Section 7 Distribution of growth

This section sets out options for the distribution of growth between Telford, Newport and the
rural area.

Section 8 Review pf development management policies

This section sets out proposals for the Local Plan’s development management policies including
changes to policy as a result of new legislation, changes in circumstances and as a result of
new priorities.

Section 9 Next steps

The final section addresses the next stages of the review process including the Council’s
approach to matters such as the Duty to Cooperate.

3.1.4 This is a review of the Local Plan and where appropriate it will be the Council’s preference
to:

Use existing evidence where this is deemed up to date and remains relevant to any
proposals; and
Where necessary source additional evidence to support any proposals contained within
the plan.

3.1.5 The flow chart below sets out the role of the Issues & Options document in relation to
other stages of the review.

TWLP Review Issues & Options

Page 37



Issues & Options Stages4

Performance of the adopted Plan

4.1 Introduction

4.1.1 An important aspect of this Local Plan Review is to understand the performance of the
current, adopted Local Plan. Set out below is a summary details the contribution of the Local
Plan on the boroughs economic, housing and environmental performance.

Page 38



Wellington Civic Centre & Telford Offices

TWLP Review Issues & Options

Page 39



Growing our own businesses

4.1.2 The Council has supported local businesses to grow within the borough from assisting
with grant applications such as through the Business Growth Programme (BGP) and the Business
Energy Efficiency Programme (BEEP) to assisting with recruitment of local people. The Local
Plan helps support local businesses to expand and grow by providing land for investment and
framework for decision making.

Supporting investment in the borough

4.1.3 The Telford Land Deal has been extremely successful. The Local Plan has aided this
success through the allocation of land for employment and housing development. Through the
Land Deal alone up to the end of 2018/19 the following had been secured:Page 40



TWLP Review Issues & Options

Page 41



The Wrekin & Coalbrookdale Viaduct

Page 42



Housing Completions Since 2011

TWLP Review Issues & Options

Page 43



5 Development of the Vision and Strategy

5.1 Development Vision

5.1.1 The development vision for the borough needs to be updated as part of the review. This
is to accommodate and reflect the changing context and acknowledge the work that needs to
be done to create a better borough for the future. The vision will set the direction for the Local
Plan and be informed by the Council’s development priorities. The updated vision needs to take
into account the changes since the production of the Local Plan.

5.1.2 The diagram below sets the development vision within the framework of the plan and
how it will inform the priorities and feed through to the spatial strategy and development
management policies.

Development Vision

5.1.3 The principal proposed change in the diagram above is the replacement of the aims
and objectives of the Local Plan with a proposed set of six focused ‘strategic priorities’. The
strategic priorities are key areas for the borough and the reviewed plan will make clear how
they will be addressed through spatial strategy and development management policies. They
will act as ‘golden threads’ through the document and all policies will be reviewed to maximise
the contribution they can make to achieve these priorities and overall development strategy.

5.1.4 The proposed strategic priorities are set out below including a summary of the issues
they are looking to address and proposals for how the plan contributes towards meeting them:

1. Tackling climate change and achieving carbon neutrality

What is the issue?

Page 44



The Council declared a climate emergency on 25th July 2019. The declaration committed
the Council to carbon neutrality for its own operations by 2030. The declaration also
recognised that the Council has a role to play in helping to facilitate the aspiration for the
borough to be carbon neutral by 2030. The UK legal target is now net zero emissions by
2050.

The Council’s Climate Change Action Plan identifies ways to use its powers to support the
transition to a low carbon future, such as through land use planning and the provision of
infrastructure. Included in the action plan is the review of the Local Plan to develop robust
policy that supports and promotes a move to carbon neutrality, through consideration of
how development will need to adapt to the impacts of climate change and promote
opportunities to maximise carbon sequestration.

How can the plan address this priority?

5.1.5 Development has a role to play in supporting a climate neutral borough through planning
policy, investment in infrastructure, the quality of development and changes in current practice.
This will require joint effort and working between the public, private and third sectors. The Council
will work to influence all of these areas by:

Embedding carbon neutrality in new developments over the coming years;
Maximising the green estate and quality of the natural environment in combating climate
change;
Recognising the changes in the way we will build, live, work and travel;
Securing more reliable, local energy generation at lower cost; and
Laying a clear policy framework for networks will need to help combat climate change.

5.1.6 Key areas where the plan can support this priority include:

Renewable energy – The delivery of renewable energy schemes will be a growth area for
the borough as it provides opportunities for clean ‘on-site’ energy generation, reliable energy
supplies to businesses and an opportunity to reduce energy costs for home owners. The
Local Plan can achieve this strategy through renewables on new development proposals
and seek to allocate sites for renewable energy projects via the call for sites process.
Sustainable transport – The borough has an extensive network of walking and cycling
routes, bus services and good connections by train. There has been an increase in people
walking and cycling as a result of Covid-19 especially in the areas they live and now is the
moment to capitalise on this by providing a policy framework for further investment in
sustainable travel.
Electric vehicles and electric vehicle infrastructure – The Local Plan can help deliver
a ‘network’ of charging points across the borough in residential and commercial development
and could plan accordingly to future proof sites, for example the installation of ducting and
cabling.
Design of development – One of the biggest contributory factors to climate change in the
UK is buildings. The fabric of buildings needs to be addressed as part of the review as a
means of reducing this figure locally and ensuring that homes are future proofed.
Green industry – A key area for the Local Plan will be the provision of new employment
land which could be targeted at the green industry both as a growth economic sector and

TWLP Review Issues & Options

Page 45



as a means of providing local production to help transition the borough to a low carbon
economy.
Advanced methods of construction (AMC) – A strategy that encourages and supports
AMC in the Local Plan offers several benefits including:

1. Delivery of high quality sustainable homes that are designed to address climate change;
2. Opportunities for local manufacturing, assembly and supply chain;
3. New training and employment opportunities in manufacture and onsite assembly; and
4. A chance to grow the market locally and get ahead of the competition.

Flooding and drainage – The recent floods along the River Severn have demonstrated
the adverse nature of climate change. The Local Plan can play an increased role in
supporting measures such as natural flood water storage as a means of reducing flood risk
to property and support the management of water as a strategic resource that can provide
environmental, social and economic benefits.

Renewable Street Lights in Telford

2. Protection and enhancement of green and natural environment

What is the issue?

This is a core local priority that goes to the heart of the review. This is about protecting and
enhancing the borough’s existing assets, recognising the increasing importance these
inter-connected areas have played in recent months supporting public health and supporting
Telford to grow in a balanced way. Unplanned erosion of green space especially within
Telford will reduce the sustainability, climate resilience and liveability of the town. These
green areas also provide separation between communities and prevent urban sprawl. The
borough’s green spaces are valued by residents, visitors and investors and a key part of
the borough’s attraction.

Page 46



How can the plan address this priority?

5.1.7 The Council is a significant land holder in the borough and has control over many of
the areas of green space so can play an influential role in achieving this priority. The role of the
Local Plan moving forward will be to ensure that these spaces, continue to provide access to
the natural environment for new and existing residents.

5.1.8 Key areas where the plan can support this priority include:

Forest Community – Telford was designed as a ‘Forest City’. This approach set out to
create ‘a settlement in the landscape’, a town set within a network of amenity green space
defined by a comprehensive tree and woodland structure. The review provides an opportunity
to re-imagine and further the concept for the 21st century establishing the borough as a
‘Forest Community’ with a development strategy that protects, manages and enhances the
borough’s greenspaces supporting stronger communities and contributing to action to
address climate change and declines in biodiversity.
Protection of inner urban green spaces – The Council will identify a further programme
of Local Nature Reserve sites across the borough including within Telford. The review will
also include policy proposals for the borough’s formal parks, including Telford Town Park,
to allow the Council to strictly control development and provide the highest level of protection
to these assets. The review will recognise the interconnected nature of the borough’s green
spaces and the role they play in providing; access to the natural environment, the movement
of people through them and importantly their role in allowing biodiversity and species to
move around the borough.
Investment into biodiversity and green space – To help achieve the protection
enhancement of green spaces and the natural environment the Local Plan will incorporate
changes to national regulations including biodiversity net gain, nature recovery networks
and Great Crested Newt Licencing. These measures will support investment in the natural
environment and improve the quality of the green areas and the routes connecting them
while enabling sustainable development.
Urban greening – The natural environment does not have to be a distinct and separate
entity from the built environment. Urban greening will be a key element of designing
developments that are contribute towards carbon neutrality and are climate ready. These
proposals will include the increased use of green infrastructure in developments to help
reduce energy costs, help with carbon sequestration and improve the health and wellbeing
of residents.
Quality of green space – It may be necessary to bring forward proposals that include
some green field development. This would provide climate change benefits. Development
can provide new areas of natural green space such as grass land, opportunity for tree
planting and the creation of biodiverse habitats where they were previously limited to
hedgerows.

TWLP Review Issues & Options

Page 47



Telford Town Park

5.1.9 The Forest Community approach will strengthen and celebrate the existing links between
people, place and the natural environment:

People –Develop stronger communities by enhancing peoples’ contact with nature, maximises
the natural environments positive impacts upon health and well-being and addresses inequalities
in physical, social and cultural accessibility to green space.

Place – The ‘Forest Community’ will frame future place making within the borough, building
upon the town’s green legacy.

The natural environment – The ‘Forest Community’ will harness the power of its green network
to address the climate and biodiversity crisis: combating air pollution, storing carbon, cleaning
and cooling the air, alleviating flooding and supporting nature recovery.

The Forest Community Definition

The Council is exploring two potential definitions of ‘Forest Community’ as part of the
borough vision:

Proposal 1:

‘For vibrant, growing and diverse communities living healthy lives and having meaningful
relationships with nature in high quality woodlands and green spaces across the borough.
For communities which are taking meaningful action to address climate change and valuing
the range of habitats and species present locally.’

Proposal 2:

Page 48



‘For vibrant, growing and diverse communities sitting comfortably within the mosaic of high
quality woodlands and greenspaces of the borough. For communities actively adapting to
climate change and working to support nature recovery and resilience.’

Which proposed definition of the Forest Community do you prefer? Are there any
other aspects to the Forest Community you would like to see considered within the
definition?

3. Maximising inward investment and employment opportunities

What is the issue?

The borough’s economic growth rate is exceeding both the West Midlands and England
with GVA increasing by 6.6% compared to 4% and 3.1% respectively. Growth has also
been consistent with year on year increases in GVA since the 2008 recession.

The borough is a key economic powerhouse for the Marches LEP area and is as a gateway
location between engineering/technology and food production and processing firms, and
an important logistics and distribution hub(8). Through its emerging Economic Development
Strategy the Council will look to support local businesses to capitalise on local industrial
and trading heritage by encouraging R&D, innovation and higher/new skills to give
competitive advantage and provide a sustainable future.

The Council has a key ambition to support inward investment as a means of growing job
opportunities and it is really important that the strong economic performance of the borough
is sustained and enhanced. The borough is facing several challenges that the Local Plan
can help address:

· The need to maintain economic competitiveness;

· The need to provide growth and diversification opportunities for key economic sectors
including manufacturing;

· Accelerating the borough’s post Covid-19 recovery;

· The implications of the UK’s withdrawal from the European Union;

· Diversifying the economic base; and

· Positioning Telford to capitalise on benefits of new trading relations;

· Regional and national infrastructure opportunities including; High Speed 2 which will call
at Stafford, the M54 / M6 northern link, plans for a Western Motorway bypassing the
conurbation, I54 extension and proposals for RAF Cosford; and

8 Marches LEP - Strategic Economic Plan (2019).

TWLP Review Issues & Options

Page 49



· Emerging infrastructure opportunities such as the potential for the electrification of the
Shrewsbury – Telford – Wolverhampton railway.

The pandemic has disrupted the pattern of global trade and led to the temporary closure
of many businesses. This unprecedented period has seen a number of changes that will
impact on the review:

· Home working - This will have an impact on the commercial office market and will drive
changes in the way people work and where they work. Reduced demand for office space
may have an impact in the Telford Town Centre area as well impacting on the space required
in new homes.

· Industrial sectors - There has been a significant impact on manufacturing across a
number of sectors such as aerospace and automotive as demand in these sectors has
reduced. Other sectors including food processing have grown and there are also
opportunities from companies seeking to source more local supply chain.

· Transport - Demand for public transport has been impacted as a result of furloughing
and working from home. There has been an increase in the proportion of people walking
and cycling.

· Leisure and hospitality – These sectors continue to be impacted by the pandemic. This
has seen a need to maintain social distancing in venues and a fall in visitor numbers.

How can we address this priority

5.1.10 There are a number of ways in which this priority can be addressed:

More land for employment – The review will enable the Council to identify more
employment land supply in order to meet economic growth and provide new employment
opportunities.
Existing employment sites – There are some employment sites outside of existing
Strategic Employment Areas (SEA’s). These sites should be afforded similar protection for
employment uses because they are strategically positioned close to major highways
including the M54 and they provide employment opportunity within Telford and Newport
with good connections to existing residential areas.
Infrastructure investment – The identification of employment and housing land supply
means that the Council is in a better position to plan for new infrastructure with more
certainty. Developer contributions can be targeted towards infrastructure that is needed to
support development. There is a need to broaden the type of infrastructure that contributions
support.
Supporting education, training and skills – The borough cannot compete for inward
investment unless it invests in education, training and skills of the workforce. The Council
will be planning for additional education infrastructure that will be required to support
development including the provision of primary and secondary school places. The Council
will also work with Further and Higher Education providers to understand their development
aspirations.
Diversifying the rural economy – The rural economy has traditionally delivered
employment in the agricultural sector, small scale business and in the past manufacturing
related to the food industry. The largest rural employer is Harper Adams University whoPage 50



are world leaders in the agri-tech sector. The Local Plan can help diversify rural employment
opportunity in areas such as leisure and recreation which are seeing an increase in popularity
as more residents seek to visit and explore what the borough has to offer.

4. Securing better homes for all

What is the Issue?

A decent place to live is the foundation on which people build their lives. The Local Plan
has a key role to play ensuring the delivery of new homes that meet local need and
supporting changes including regeneration and renewal that address the quality of the
existing housing stock. As well as ensuring delivery of more affordable homes there is a
recognised need to ensure that housing in general is developed to a more accessible
standard that enables people to live at home for longer as this not only reduces pressures
on health and social care services but more importantly improves quality of life and life
expectancy.

One of the key impacts of Covid-19 has been the increase in people working from home.
This is likely to be a long term trend and needs to be considered as part of the review both
in relation to standards in new homes and the design and community provision within new
developments.

How can the plan address this priority?

5.1.11 The Local Plan can address this priority by considering:

Better housing mix – Delivering a range of housing types, tenures and sizes to meet the
needs of various groups in the community is central to the Local Plan. This includes building
more affordable homes and specialist accommodation including bungalows in accessible
locations which can be adapted to meet changes in people’s needs over their lifetime and
reduce pressures otherwise placed on residential care facilities.
Space standards – The Local Plan can help further improve borough housing standards
through design, accessibility, security and environmental performance, taking account of
national guidelines and evidence. Seeking minimum space standards for a range of housing
types and tenures (including homes for rent) and outdoor amenity space contributes to
safe, inclusive and accessible places which are more responsive to the changing
requirements of residents(9) including home working.
Housing offer - The right balance of good quality homes, which are affordable, sustainable
and provide variety, choice and accessibility to residents, are essential to the economic
prosperity, health and wellbeing of the people in the borough. Local Plan policies and site
allocations can instil principles of intergeneration, co-location and interaction in our future
communities.

5. Delivering regeneration, renewal and stronger communities

What is the Issue?

9 Living with beauty: report of the Building Better, Building Beautiful Commission (2020)

TWLP Review Issues & Options

Page 51



Telford hasn’t been immune to the challenges facing many former new towns not least the
need to regenerate and renew infrastructure, centres and housing stock. Telford’s growth
has been characterised by new development connecting many older communities and
creating new communities with district centres and residential areas. The challenge of
regeneration is compounded by the changing role of centres as traditional patterns of
shopping and spending leisure time are changing. Telford Town Centre is also not immune
to these forces and the Plan needs to consider the need for a greater mix of development
within centres including residential, leisure and employment.

The infrastructure and fabric of the new town estates to the south of the M54 is ageing and
some of the estates now require physical regeneration. This is complicated by diverse
ownership in these areas.

How can the plan address this priority?

5.1.12 The Local Plan can address this priority by considering:

Telford Town Centre – The continued evolution and development of Telford Town Centre
can be supported through allocating development sites as well as a policy framework that
recognises the changing nature of town centres and the need to have a balance of uses.
This includes public services, leisure uses and delivering an appropriate amount and range
of new residential development in the town centre which supports creating stronger
communities. The review can set the tone and shape of redevelopment in the town centre
up to 2040.
Town and District Centres – There is recognition that a changing retail environment will
require re-purposing of town and district centres. For example, there will be opportunities
to refocus retail areas and utilise empty retail spaces, create new enterprise space and
bring in other uses such as residential development, redesign the public realm, repurpose
landmark buildings and add to the night time economy. Centres are well connected places
and improved walking and cycling links will help encourage people to ‘shop local’.
New Town Estates – The Council’s Stronger Communities programme will focus on areas
of the borough that are in need of physical regeneration, including New Town Estates.
Recognising there may be limited scope for site allocations in these estates a policy
framework is proposed that will help facilitate redevelopment and regeneration opportunities.

Telford Town Centre

Page 52



6. Improving health, wellbeing and tackling health inequalities

What is the issue?

By promoting healthy behaviours and environments through planning policies, communities
and businesses can help reduce health inequalities, improve productivity and economic
growth and also protect our residents through better physical and mental health and
wellbeing.

Factors that contribute to poor health and health inequalities including property standards
and development design, access to outdoor (public and private) amenity space and access
to healthy food, opportunities for education, exercise and employment.

How can the plan address this?

5.1.13 The Local Plan can address this priority by considering:

Mental and physical health of residents – Both climate change and the impact of Covid-19
have highlighted the importance and value of high quality, locally accessible green spaces
for exercise, education and both physical and mental health and wellbeing. The Local Plan
can play a key role in improving people’s overall health through design policy and space
standards, for example, the provision of space within homes to accommodate home working
as well as the size of outdoor space such as gardens. The Local Plan can also encourage
healthy active lifestyles by providing opportunities for people to exercise more through
walking and cycling connections to well-designed work places and centres which provide
supporting infrastructure. Together with neighbourhood access to outdoor space and the
natural environment, thesemeasures can promote community connectivity, social interaction
and reduce community isolation. A whole systems approach to reducing levels of obesity
and excess weight across the borough should consider healthy food environments that
support better choices for people.
Healthy and vibrant town centres – The decline of retail within town and district centres
poses a challenge in how to re-purpose centres and bring back footfall. This issue is not
unique to the borough. The Local Plan will need to consider what other uses could be
brought into centres, the need to control uses, but also the need to maintain some flexibility
so that opportunities for positive, good quality economic development are not lost. This will
be central to ensuring that the borough’s centres are busy, social places that contribute to
the health and wellbeing of residents

Do you agree with the proposed priorities for the Local Plan up to 2040? Are there
any other priorities the plan should focus on?

TWLP Review Issues & Options

Page 53



6 Development requirement options

6.1 Introduction

6.1.1 The Council is required to plan for and maintain a supply of land to meet its development
requirements. This should take full account of the area’s aspirations, priorities and potential for
growth. It is not a credible or defendable position for the Council to plan for growth well below
its current housing requirement or rates of delivery as this would put the borough at risk of
unwanted speculative development as well as Government sanctions should the Council fail to
meet the Housing Delivery Test (10).

6.1.2 The Plan needs to ensure a supply of employment and housing land for the following
reasons:

Providing a range employment land opportunities is critical to attracting new inward
investment;
Failure to maintain a five year housing land supply and meet the Government’s Housing
Delivery Test will risk exposure to unplanned speculative development; and
Planned growth allows for a strategic approach to infrastructure planning and to develop
strong, resilient communities.

6.1.3 This section sets out the options for employment and housing land requirements. The
evidence base for the Council’s employment and housing requirements is provided through the
Economic & Housing Development Needs Assessment (EHDNA). The Scoping Report for the
Integrated Appraisal provides baseline information for the Integrated Appraisal of the plan.
These documents are published alongside the Issues & Options consultation document.

6.1.4 The Council is currently carrying out a call for sites which closes on 8 January 2021.
This process will inform the Council’s land supply position. The Council is therefore taking an
open approach to the Issues &Options consultation and will consider other reasonable alternative
development strategies (development requirements and distribution options) that are supported
by appropriate technical evidence and suitably justified.

6.1.5 It should be noted that the Issues & Options document does not identify specific
development sites. Proposed site allocations will be included within the Preferred (Draft) Strategy
Version.

6.2 Existing land supply

6.2.1 The Council’s existing land supply, as at April 1 2020, includes sites (in the case of
employment land) and homes that include:

Existing land allocations – these will be carried forward as part of the Council’s land supply;
Have planning permission but are not yet started;
Are under construction; and
Have been completed.

6.2.2 The Council will update the supply position for employment and housing land on an
annual basis as the review progresses.

10 Page 21, Paragraph 75, National Planning Policy Framework (2019)Page 54



6.3 Employment land requirement

6.3.1 The Local Plan allocated 148.5ha of employment land to cover a minimum requirement
of 76ha. Over 100ha of this employment land is either completed or in the planning system.
Much of this land is under delivery in Telford (e.g. T54 and Hortonwood West) with a further
10ha under development as part of the Newport Innovation Park agro-tech development site.
This currently leaves a balance of 48ha of land supply through which the Council can positively
respond to inward investment enquiries. The successful delivery of employment land:

Demonstrates demand for employment land and strong investment interest in Telford.
Is a clear indication of the success of the Council’s approach to allocating supply, promoting
the borough to investors and de-risking and preparing sites for the market.

Telford Plaza

6.3.2 The employment land requirement options are based on two scenarios:

1. Economic growth – a ‘growth’ scenario which is informed by economic forecasting data
and discussions with a range of stakeholders including Council officers and key stakeholders
including the Marches Local Enterprise Partnership and representatives from across the
business community.

2. Past trends – a scenario based on past delivery trends for employment land.

6.3.3 The table below sets out the two options with the economic growth option providing
167ha of employment land and the past trends option of 189ha. When existing employment
land supply is taken into account the net new employment land is required as part of the review
process is between 77ha and 99ha.

TWLP Review Issues & Options

Page 55



Table 1: Employment Land Requirement

Past trends (ha)Economic growth (ha)

189167Employment land requirement

90Current employment land
supply (11)

9977Net employment land
requirement

The Call for Sites is currently open and the Council is seeking submissions for new
employment land. Further information is available and submissions can be made at
www.telford.gov.uk/callforsites.

6.3.4 The Council will be looking for employment land supply that will provide choice, flexibility
and range of sites that can meet inward investment enquiries.

Which of the two employment land requirements set out above do you think the
Council should be adopting? Do you have a different figure, supported by evidence,
which Council should be considered?

6.4 Housing requirement options

6.4.1 The EHDNA study has informed three options for housing growth in the borough. In
developing options the Council has recognised the potential for additional growth arising from
economic development and demographic changes.

6.4.2 The Government set a minimum housing needs figure through its standard method.
The current figure for Telford is around 500 homes per year. However it is not considered a
defendable position to rely on this figure as part of a Local Plan examination process as based
on the area’s past delivery and economic priorities it is highly unlikely this position would be
accepted by a Government Planning Inspector. The Government is clear that this is the starting
point (not the end point) for planning for growth.

6.4.3 TheGovernment is consulting on changes to the standardmethodology for the calculation
of housing need(12). Should this change be implemented the housing need figure for Telford &
Wrekin could be 941(13)homes per annum. The Council will be keeping the situation under
review and will respond accordingly at the next stage of the TWLP review.

6.4.4 Based on the EHDNA findings, three scenarios for housing growth are set out below:

11 Sites with planning permission (not yet commenced construction) and allocated sites within
the TWLP

12 Changes to the current planning system (August 2020)
13 Lichfield’shttps://lichfields.uk/grow-renew-protect-planning-for-the-future/how-many-homes-the-new-standard-method/#section18Page 56

http://www.telford.gov.uk/callforsites
https://lichfields.uk/grow-renew-protect-planning-for-the-future/how-many-homes-the-new-standard-method/#section18


1. Meeting economic growth

This scenario is based onmeeting economic growth needs of the borough and is supported
by evidence from local stakeholders including Council Officers, the Local Enterprise
Partnership and business community.
This scenario does not plan for meeting population projections and does not provide scope
for additional economic growth.
This scenario is below current TWLP growth targets and would be below recent rates of
delivery.
This scenario would continue to deliver affordable housing from new developments.
The scenario uses employment growth forecasts to estimate likely population growth.

2. Meeting economic growth ambitions and population trends

This scenario is based on Office of National Statistics population projections for 2018.
It provides housing required to meet the Council’s economic growth ambitions through
meeting the economic growth needs (Scenario 1) as well as providing additional scope for
economic activity linked with recovery and the changing market and provides scope to
attract inward investment through more flexibility in the labour force as a result of meeting
future population projections.
This scenario is broadly in line with the average annual rate of housing completions in the
borough since 2011.
This scenario could deliver proportionally more affordable housing from open market sites
than current levels.

3. Housing led growth

This scenario is based on the delivery of a number of homes each year with supporting
demographic information to evidence the population growth required to deliver housing at
this rate.
By way of comparison this scenario is broadly in line with the best performance of the
housing market over the previous 5 years.
The scenario demonstrates the implications of delivering a housing led growth strategy for
the borough with the implication of higher inward migration.
This scenario allows for economic growth and supports projected population levels set out
in Scenarios 2 and 3.
The scenario assumes a higher level of inward migration to the borough than other
scenarios.
This scenario has the potential to deliver affordable housing at a proportionally higher rate
than other options due to the overall housing requirement.
This option provides the opportunity to increase economic activity beyond the first two
scenarios as well as increase the potential opportunities for investment in infrastructure
through new development.

6.4.5 The information in the table below is broken down by:

The annual average number of new homes required from new site allocations and windfall
development (14).

14 Windfall development - an allowance for sites not specifically identified in the Local Plan

TWLP Review Issues & Options

Page 57



The total number of new homes required from new site allocations and windfall development
between 2020-40 (the proposed Local Plan period)
The housing requirement options for each of the scenarios – in addition to new homes from
site allocations and windfall development this figure includes the current assumed housing
supply of around 9,000 homes based on the latest available Annual Monitoring Report (15)

for the borough.

Table 2: Housing Requirement Options

Housing led growthEconomic ambitions
and population
trends

Economic Growth

705519403Annual new homes
(site allocations and
windfall)

14,10510,3858,065Total new homes
(site allocations and
windfall) 2020-40

23,00019,28016,960Total housing
requirement options

Which of the housing requirements set out above do you think the Council should
be adopting? Are there any other evidenced based housing requirement options the
Council should be considering?

7 Distribution of Growth

7.1 Introduction

7.1.1 The current strategy distributes growth between Telford, Newport and the rural area,
based on population. The Telford, Newport and the rural areas are each described below:

Telford – the main settlement in the borough, Telford is the main source of employment
and is well connected to the national motorway (M54) and railway networks. Telford has
been the focus for inward investment and jobs growth in the borough and will continue to
fulfil that role moving forward.
Newport – the settlement is located to the north east of Telford and is a traditional market
town serving a wider rural hinterland. The town is to the west of the A41 and is currently
growing to the south and south west with new employment and residential developments
including the Newport Innovation Park.
Rural area – the rural area sits to the north and west of Telford and contains several smaller
villages and rural hamlets. The area has seen some growth recently with the two large

15 https://www.telford.gov.uk/downloads/file/14748/annual_monitoring_report_2019Page 58



brownfield sites, one of which at Allscott which has commenced construction. The area is
also home to Harper Adams University.

7.1.2 The Council have considered a range of options for the distribution of growth and
developed four options it considers reasonable. Other alternatives were considered but have
been discounted these include:

1. Allocating greater levels of growth to Newport and the rural area – This approach
would have seen the level of growth allocated to Newport and the rural area exceed 25%
set out in the options below. This was discounted because:

Telford is the main settlement and will continue to be so into the future, this is recognised
by the Council and reflected in the Marches LEP Strategic Economic Plan. This is
demonstrated in the distribution options being put forward for consultation which show a
range of 75% - 86% of growth going in or around Telford.
Telford Development Corporation developed infrastructure to accommodate a population
of 225,000. Although patterns of movement and employment may have changed the ‘trunk
infrastructure’ is in place to support further growth.
The distribution of growth significantly above the proportions set out belowwould dramatically
alter the built environment and character of Newport and the rural area. It would also put
potentially unacceptable burdens on development in the provision of extensive new highway
infrastructure and other infrastructure such as drainage and utilities provision.

TWLP Review Issues & Options

Page 59



2. The dispersal of growth across the borough – This approach would have seen growth
dispersed across the borough resulting in development across a larger number of smaller
development sites. This was discounted because:

It would reduce the potential to secure benefits from larger sites such as Sustainable Urban
Extensions including renewable energy provision, a better mix of housing, mixed use
development and the provision of publicly accessible green space.
It is unlikely this strategy would meet the Council's housing requirements as it would be
too reliant on smaller development sites coming forward across a greater range of locations.

7.2 Options for the distribution of growth

7.2.1 The Council is proposing four options for the distribution of growth for consultation:

Options for the distribution of growth

Option 1 - Maintaining the current distribution strategy

This option maintains consistency with the TWLP development strategy and would see
Telford continue to be the focus for additional growth. There would be some additional
growth in the rural area and Newport on top of existing committed levels of growth. This
option was selected as it:

Provides continuity in infrastructure planning and would help concentrate infrastructure
delivery to support the development of transport corridors, new education infrastructure
and new networks such as renewable energy provision and electric vehicle
infrastructure;
Focuses growth on Telford as the most sustainable location in the borough including
supported, specialist and affordable accommodation in close proximity to jobs, services,
facilities and schools;
Delivers development in an area that can be served more easily by public sector
agencies including police, fire, ambulance and NHS;
Provides the greatest scope for the creation of more interconnected publicly accessible
green spaces; and
Maintains the focus of growth in and around Telford, including the potential for
sustainable expansion beyond the current boundary.

Option 2 - Rural growth

This option would see an increase in growth in the rural area compared with the current
distribution strategy. There would be proportionately less growth in Telford to allow for this
and growth levels in Newport would be maintained. This option was selected as it:

Provides an opportunity to test alternative distribution options for housing in the rural
area including allocated development sites, additional key settlements and / or infill
within existing villages (see below);
Provides additional infrastructure and services within the rural area including highways,
education, open space and drainage;

Page 60



Helps make rural settlements more sustainable and supports the long term viability
and sustainability of rural services such as shops, pubs, community facilities and
schools;
Provides more scope for supported, specialist and affordable accommodation in the
rural area enabling young people to stay within village communities and elderly to down
size and remain within their community; and
It has the potential to increase economic activity in the rural area and grow local
businesses.

Option 3 - Newport growth

This option would see some additional growth in Newport compared with the current strategy.
There would be proportionately less growth in Telford to allow for this and growth levels in
the rural area would be maintained. This option was selected as it:

Provides the opportunity for additional infrastructure in and around Newport for
highways, education, open space and drainage infrastructure;
Would create additional opportunities for economic activity in Newport including footfall
within the town centre as well as the provision of additional employment land to
generate new jobs; and
Provides additional scope for supported, specialist and affordable accommodation in
and around Newport.

Option 4. Rural and Newport growth – This option would see a quarter of growth outside
of Telford with a balanced approach taken to the distribution of growth housing growth in
the rural area and Newport. The option was selected as it:

Provides a broader spread of housing options across the borough;
Provides opportunities for additional infrastructure investment across both Newport
and the rural area; and
Helps balance out the potential for economic activity to support local services and
facilities between Newport and the rural area.

7.2.2 The figure below sets out the proportional breakdown of the four options described
above.

TWLP Review Issues & Options

Page 61



Figure 1

7.2.3 The four options represent reasonable alternative(16)strategies for the distribution of
future development in the borough. The options provide a framework for the distribution of
growth but do not, at this stage, identify specific development site. Sites will be identified at
Preferred (Draft) Strategy stage following the close of the call for sites and site selection process.

Question:Which of the four distribution strategies do you prefer the Council adopted
as its preferred strategy?

Question:Are there any other distribution options, supported by appropriate evidence,
which the Council should be considering?

7.3 Distribution considerations for Telford and Newport

7.3.1 Telford remains the focus for growth, however there is likely to be less large scale
development within the town due to existing levels of committed development and the need to
protect publicly accessible green space. Should it not be possible to meet all of Telford’s growth
requirements within the existing urban boundary then expansion beyond the current boundary
will need to be considered. Where this is the case proposals for Sustainable Urban Extensions
(SUE) will be considered through the site selection process. This approach is supported by
policy proposals for SUE sites that will seek a mix of development including jobs and homes,

16 Part 3 (12), The Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004Page 62



supporting infrastructure, opportunities for renewable energy provision as well as enhancements
to the natural environment to help combat climate change and offset the loss of agricultural
land.

7.3.2 Growth in Newport would be directed within the existing built up area. Should it not be
possible to meet all of Newport’s growth requirements within the town then development options
in or on the edge of the town boundary would need to be considered.

Newport

7.3.3 The delivery of smaller development sites within Telford and Newport will be encouraged
as a means of supporting small to medium sized builders within the borough. This would also
support the delivery of smaller brownfield sites close to town and district centres where they
would have regeneration benefits.

Question: Are there any other options for meeting housing growth in Telford &
Newport that the Council should be considering?

7.4 Distribution considerations for the rural area

7.4.1 The current strategy focuses growth on five key settlements of Lilleshall, Edgmond,
Tibberton, Waters Upton and High Ercall. Distribution of development within the TWLP was
based on existing sites with planning permission and windfall development coming forward in
those settlements. The review needs to consider whether this is still the most appropriate strategy
for the rural area based on the high levels of development and existing supply in some villages.
The options for development in the rural area are set out below:

1. Allocate housing sites – This would deliver a planned strategy for meeting housing
requirements in the rural area. It would provide certainty to communities about the location
and scale of future growth and allow a strong position to be taken regarding speculative
proposals that could come forward via planning applications. This approach would require
a strategic view on where development could be located and what additional infrastructure

TWLP Review Issues & Options

Page 63



(highways, drainage, schools for example) would be required to support growth.
Neighbourhood Development Plans could also support this option by allocating housing
sites in villages.

2. Brownfield development opportunities – Should brownfield sites come forward through
the Call for Sites process they could be considered through the site selection process.

3. Identify new key settlements –To address the distribution of rural housing going forward
it may be appropriate to identify further key settlements beyond the current five villages.
This would be on the basis of assessing the level of development in the existing key
settlements and the potential for other settlements to grow and accommodate housing
development. The approach would recognise the proximity of rural settlements to each
other and access to community facilities, where development in one village may support
services in a village nearby(17).

4. Continue a windfall / infill policy approach – There is also the option of continuing with
the current policy approach of the rural area meeting its needs through windfall sites, infill
development and rural exception sites that might come forward.

7.4.2 There is scope for a mixed approach to development in the rural area through a
combination of the approaches set out above in order to meet the housing requirement scenarios
set out above.

Question: Are there any other options for meeting rural housing growth that the
Council should be considering?

8 Review of development management policies

8.1 Introduction

8.1.1 This section covers the review of Local Plan development management policies, under
the following headings:

Economy – employment land, retail centres policy, tourism and rural economy
Housing – housing requirement, housing needs for different groups in the community, rural
housing and Gypsy and Traveller accommodation
Natural Environment – biodiversity and geodiversity, trees and woodlands, public open
space, green network and strategic landscapes
Community – the protection and development of community facilities and culture
Connections – sustainable transport, highways development, design of parking and policies
covering communications infrastructure
Built environment & heritage – design quality, historic environment and land conditions
Environmental Resources – renewable energy, minerals, waste and water resources.

17 Paragraph 78, National Planning Policy Framework (2019)Page 64



8.1.2 Each section covers relevant policy, legislative and local changes to be taken into
account and sets out proposed amendments to policies. The policy amendments include policies
to be retained and amended; proposed new policies; and policies to be retained where no
material amendments are proposed. There are questions to accompany policy proposals and
there is also the opportunity to make general comments on each section.

8.2 Viability

8.2.1 National Planning Practice Guidance states that the role for viability assessment is
primarily at the plan making stage. It is the responsibility of plan makers in collaboration with
the local community, developers and other stakeholders, to create realistic, deliverable
policies(18).

8.2.2 It is a key part of the review to ensure the provision of infrastructure whilst ensuring that
the Plan is deliverable and development is not overburdened. As such, the Review will update
proposed contributions to affordable housing and other infrastructure that developers need to
make. A whole plan viability assessment will be used to test proposed policies and this will
inform the draft plan at the next stage of this review.

8.3 Supporting policy text

8.3.1 The Council will as part of the Preferred Options Stage update the supporting text for
policies within the plan to ensure it is up to date, factually correct and aligns with policy proposals
taken forward. This is likely to apply to policies that are retained and amended as well as policies
that are retained without any material amendments. For example, a minor update will have to
be made to Policy HO1 to reflect the new housing requirement.

8.4 Economy

8.4.1 Introduction

8.4.1.1 The NPPF places significant weight on the need to support economic growth and
productivity, and states that planning policies should help create the conditions in which
businesses can invest, expand and adapt(19). The NPPF also requires planning policies to
support a prosperous rural economy(20).

8.4.1.2 Since the Local Plan was adopted the majority of the allocated employment land has
been successfully delivered, with inward investment into areas such as Hortonwood, T54 and
Donnington Wood, and significant support given to indigenous businesses to assist in their
growth. The availability of shovel ready industrial land, at very competitive prices and a Council
led business support service has put Telford at the top of areas to invest. To continue to support
the economic growth of the borough and assist recovery from the effects of Covid-19, the Council
must ensure the provision of a supply of an appropriately diverse portfolio of employment land
and buildings. The Local Plan also seeks to promote a diverse rural economy.

18 NPPG Paragraph 002 Reference ID: 10-002-20190509
19 Paragraph 80, National Planning Policy Framework (2019)
20 Paragraph 83-84, National Planning Policy Framework (2019)

TWLP Review Issues & Options

Page 65



8.4.1.3 The Local Plan retail and leisure policies direct the type of development that is
appropriate for each centre and seeks to maintain their position for commercial and economic
activity. In July 2020 the Government announced new permitted development rights and revised
the Use Classes which could have an impact on our high streets and town centres. These
changes will be considered as part of the review.

Southwater

8.4.2 Policies to be retained and amended

Employment land in urban and rural areas (Policies EC1 and EC3)

8.4.2.1 To ensure that the Local Plan continues to support the success and future growth
ambitions of Telford andWrekin further employment land should be allocated by updating Policy
EC1. This will support the Council’s Economic Development Strategy and priority for inward
investment and jobs opportunities. This also provides the opportunity to amend the Policy to
ensure it effectively serves its purpose and is clear about the types of uses supported on sites.

8.4.2.2 The updated policy could also include measures to ensure that existing employment
sites outside of the Strategic Employment Areas (SEA) are protected for employment use similar
to the protection provided to sites within the SEA. This would ensure better distribution of
well-connected employment land across Telford in particular.

8.4.2.3 Policy EC2 sets out criteria for assessing employment proposals in the urban area.
The Council will continue to support new and expanded employment developments where they
contribute to the borough’s economic prosperity. As part of the review, new employment sites
will need to be identified to meet the employment growth requirements, including sites on the
edge of the existing built up area. If new large-scale inward investment opportunities were to
come forward during the plan period on unallocated land adjacent to the built up area of Telford,
Policy E2 could set additional criteria for determining schemes.

8.4.2.4 Policy EC3 encourages appropriate development that re-uses existing buildings or
redevelops brownfield land however, it is restrictive over the types of uses that are appropriate.
This restrictiveness over use is no longer compliant with the NPPF (Paragraph 83) which states

Page 66



that planning policies should enable “the sustainable growth and expansion of all types of
business in rural areas both through conversion of existing buildings and well-designed new
buildings” (our emphasis). The proposed option would reflect this.

Policy EC1: Strategic Employment Areas

Approach:

Identify new employment land supply and update the land requirement

Proposals:

1. Review employment areas not currently covered by EC1 and assess sites for the
employment uses under policy EC1.

2. Where new allocations are proposed clarify what uses are acceptable for relevant
sites in relation to the surrounding uses and situation of the site.

Do you agree with the policy proposals set out above? Are there any other proposals
the Council should consider?

Policy EC2: Employment in the urban area

Approach:

Proposals for employment development adjacent to the boundary of Telford on unallocated
land would need to demonstrate significant benefits to the Borough in terms of economic
opportunities (jobs and inward investment) and demonstrate specific locational requirements
(accessibility, sector specific requirements and economic benefits). Proposals would also
need to satisfy environmental and technical considerations.

Do you agree with the approach for large-scale inward investment opportunities
adjacent to the built up area?

Policy EC3: Employment in the rural area

Approach:

Strengthen the policy to help diversify the rural economy

TWLP Review Issues & Options

Page 67



Proposal:

Broaden the uses permitted in the rural area by this policy by allowing developments where
it is successfully demonstrated that they would benefit from a rural area, cannot locate in
the urban area and would not have a detrimental impact to the rural area.

Do you agree with the policy proposal set out above? Are there any other proposals
that should be considered?

Managing our urban centres (Policies EC4 - EC10)

8.4.2.5 Industries such as leisure and hospitality are among those worse affected by Covid-19
and form a significant proportion of the businesses located in the urban centres. There has also
been a rise in online shopping and delivery services with some businesses also adapting to
meet local shopping needs. As such the approach to managing urban centres needs to be
flexible enough to enable recovery andmeet the longer term structural challenges in areas such
as retail, but balanced to appropriately protect the continued role of centres and hubs for
economic, social and leisure activities.

8.4.2.6 Recent government revisions to the Use Classes Order together with new permitted
development rights have been introduced including the:

Change of use from shops to offices;
Takeaways to dwellings; and
Demolition of buildings to be replaced by residential together

8.4.2.7 These changes will impact how development in centres can and will be managed;
however, new flexibilities need to be appropriate to ensure there isn’t a predominance of a
limited number of uses within centres.

8.4.2.8 Policy EC4 sets out a hierarchy of the urban centres of the borough. The hierarchy
of centres remains accurate in reflecting the size, location and sustainability of the centres in
the borough. There may be the need designate additional centres should developments of a
sufficient size come forward. At this stage, the Council is not proposing to consult on changes
to the policy.

8.4.2.9 Policy EC5 focuses on the shopping function of Telford town centre. This role should
be retained and as such the majority of the policy remains relevant. To support the continued
evolution of Telford Town Centre and its main shopping function, other uses in and around the
Primary Shopping Area should be supported especially where they generate footfall and
customers. This could include appropriate residential development, live-work units, new models
of office provision and encouraging growth industries such as I.C.T, research and development
and the knowledge sector that would be compatible with the main town centre uses. The role
of Telford International Centre as a town centre culture and leisure facility will continue to be
supported.

Page 68



Telford International Centre

8.4.2.10 Proposed changes to Policy EC6 seek to provide a more flexible approach towards
uses in Market Towns and District Centres to encourage their diversification and regeneration,
supporting new uses. However, uses that could detract from a centre or adversely impact public
health need to be restricted. Key to regeneration is the flexibility of spaces to meet different
needs such as live-work units, encouraging “enterprise hubs or nodes”, allowing a mix of
residential and encouraging new community uses such as leisure.

8.4.2.11 Policy EC8 focuses on controlling retail development outside and on the edge of
centres. It is important to protect the function of our centres particularly as we seek to aid
recovery in our high streets which have been impacted by the closure of shops due to changes
in shopping habits during the Covid-19 pandemic. As such, it is important that this policy is
appropriately flexible to encourage development but protects our centres.

8.4.2.12 The Telford Innovation Campus of Wolverhampton University, located in Priorslee
has made significant investments into its engineering and manufacturing faculty, with a particular
focus on automotive manufacturing and is currently expanding its provision in health and social
care. Harper Adams University is a world leader in agri technology. The Local Plan Review
provides an opportunity to ensure that policy is sufficiently flexible to support further opportunities
for the growth of educational establishments in the borough to support the upskilling and reskilling
of our workforce.

Policy EC5: Telford Town Centre

Approach:

Amend policy to recognise changing role of town centres and continue to support the
ambitions and success of Telford.

Proposals:

TWLP Review Issues & Options

Page 69



1. Amend criteria for changes of use in Primary Shopping Area to include criteria
supporting uses that attract would high footfall

2. Clarify the position regarding the scope and scale of residential development within
Telford Town Centre

3. Encourage the diversification of uses in Telford Town Centre, including where
appropriate residential development.

4. Encourage high-tech, R&D, Information Technology industries and knowledge based
industries to locate in Telford Town Centre.

5. Amend the boundary of the Stafford Park SEA to remove the section overlapping with
the Telford Town Centre boundary

6. Add criteria to ensure development does not adversely impact public health.

Do you agree with the policy proposals set out above? Are there any other proposals
the Council should consider?

Policy EC6: Market Towns and District Centres

Approach:

Recognise the need for flexibility to aid the role of centres whilst guarding against the
predominance of uses.

Proposals:

1. Strengthen the criteria for change of use to non-retail uses in the town centre with
criteria that supports uses providing a direct service to the public; and maintains and
enhances the vitality, attractiveness and viability of the centre.

2. Review criteria that restricts ‘adjacent non-retail uses’. This could introduce additional
flexibility by adding criteria that restricts uses by their nature or impact on the high street
such as restricting night time uses and defining the number of similar uses classes that will
be supported in the Primary Shopping Areas.

3. Add criteria that supports the use of outdoor space for uses that complement the
function of the centre. This could include outdoor seating for restaurants and cafes, pop up
markets and events. This support would be conditional on the proposed use being
complimentary to the function of the centre, not resulting in detrimental impacts on transport
or public safety and being of an appropriate design.

4. Add criteria to ensure development does not adversely impact public health.Page 70



5. Review the boundaries of Primary Shopping Areas with a view to concentrating retail
development within core areas.

Do you agree with the policy proposals set out above? Are there any other proposals
the Council should consider?

Policy EC8: Out of centre and edge of centre development

Approach:

Review the policy to incorporate more flexibility in uses permitted out of centre and on the
edge of centre

Proposals:

Additional clarification could be provided that leisure uses as well as retail uses in these
locations could be acceptable where it can be demonstrated that there is no suitable site
available in the centres. In addition the proposal would not have a detrimental impact on
the centres, this could be demonstrated through an impact assessment.

Do you agree with the policy proposals set out above? Are there any other proposals
the Council should consider?

8.4.3 Policies proposed to be retained with no changes

8.4.3.1 The following policies are proposed to be retained with no changes:

EC2 Employment in the urban area
EC4 Hierarchy of centres
EC7 Local centres and rural services
EC9 Evening and night time economy
EC10 Shop front and advertisement design
EC11 Improving links to tourist destinations
EC12 Leisure, cultural and tourism development

Are there any other comments you would like to make on this section?

TWLP Review Issues & Options

Page 71



8.5 Housing

8.5.1 Introduction

8.5.1.1 The right balance of good quality homes which are affordable, sustainable and provide
variety, choice and accessibility, are essential to the economic prosperity, health and well-being
of the people in our borough. The Local Plan allocates a range of sites to meet housing needs
and sets out policies which support the delivery of a wide choice of high quality homes. Policies
also address the housing needs of different groups in the community.

8.5.1.2 The review will consider the Council’s recently published Housing Strategy(21) which
focuses efforts to ensure there is suitable housing for all, particularly the most vulnerable,
through the provision of additional homes but also by looking after and protecting the homes
we already have. The Council supports the ‘Everybody in for Good’ initiative which would mean
everyone has an offer of accommodation and no one has to resort to rough sleeping. The
Council’s Specialist and Supported Accommodation Strategy (22)was also recently published
and sets out how the Council will make best use of existing accommodation, develop a range
of specialist and supported accommodation, and ensure that support and care services promote
people’s wellbeing and independence.

8.5.2 Policies to be retained and amended

Housing growth and delivery (Policy HO2)

8.5.2.1 The Council has a supply of housing sites with planning permission (commitments)
and small sites not allocated in the Local Plan (windfall sites). This supply contributes towards
meeting future housing needs; however, it is likely that additional allocations will still be needed
to meet future requirements. This creates opportunities to use previously developed land in
suitable locations and support small/medium developers including local building companies.
Given the housing requirement options are discussed in section 5 of this document, the Council
is not consulting on proposed changes to Policies HO1 and HO3 at this stage. The preferred
option would be presented at Draft Plan stage and updates to the housing requirement and
trajectory would then be presented.

8.5.2.2 The Council will no longer prepare a separate ‘Housing Site Allocations Local Plan’
to identify further sites in the current Local Plan. Housing allocations will instead come forward
through the Review to meet the new housing requirement and be set out in the Draft Plan.

8.5.2.3 Policy HO2 in the Local Plan sets out principles for delivering a Sustainable Urban
Extension (SUE) in Priorslee. The Priorslee site has outline permission and it is not proposed
to change the requirements for this site within Policy HO2. If future employment and housing
needs cannot be met entirely in the built-up areas, further SUEs may need to be identified and
the Council proposes the following SUE principles:

Amix of uses (amount and type of development) which ensure that employment and housing
are considered together to help meet identified needs including a range of housing types
and tenures that support intergeneration and co-location within;

21 The draft Housing Strategy 2020 - 2025 by Telford & Wrekin Council is expected to be
approved in autumn 2020 following public consultation.

22 Specialist and Supported Accommodation Strategy by Housing Learning Information
Network (2020) Page 72



Seeking high quality development which, through its location, orientation and design
(buildings and public realm), adapts to the impacts of climate change and supports the
move towards carbon neutrality; and
Infrastructure provision which includes services, local facilities, public open space provision,
renewable energy, sustainable transport (walking, cycling and sustainable transport), access
to the highway network and opportunities for net environmental gains.

8.5.2.4 The review will need to consider how local design tools can be applied to new
developments, such as workshops, design advice/review services, frameworks (such as Building
for Life), design codes and guides(23). This will be considered alongside current design policies
(BE1 and BE2).

Policy HO2: Housing allocations

Approach:

Address options for housing allocations to meet requirements.

Proposals:

1. Identify land to accommodate at least 10% of the housing requirement on sites no
larger than one hectare in line with national planning policy.

2. Set out criteria-based policy requirements for all housing allocations which address
the mix of uses, seeking high quality development and infrastructure provision.

3. Set out development principles for Sustainable Urban Extensions

4. Set out design tools and processes for housing allocations.

Do you agree with the policy proposals? Are there any other proposals the Council
should consider?

Housing mix and quality (Policy HO4)

8.5.2.5 Policy HO4 in the Local Plan requires major developments to comply with the
government’s nationally described space standards(24). The review will consider how standards
(space, physical accessibility, environmental performance and design) could be reconciled
within policy and whether more targeted approaches should be considered. Space standards
can help prevent overcrowding and promote good health and well-being. Delivering sustainable,
energy efficient housing could, for example, include setting carbon reduction requirements for
new homes expressed as a percentage reduction improvement over Building Regulations
progressing towards zero carbon.

23 National Design Guide (2019)
24 Technical housing standards – nationally described space standard (2015)

TWLP Review Issues & Options

Page 73



8.5.2.6 There is a need for well-designed places that respond to changing demographic
needs, which provide ‘future-proof’ housing built to higher accessibility levels (Category M Part
2) as well as purpose-built specialist accommodation.

8.5.2.7 Creating homes which enable people to live independently for longer is important for
their health and wellbeing while also helping to reduce the costs of adult health and social care.
The Local Plan should seek to promote high accessibility standards, adaptability and/or fully
wheelchair accessible standards in all new build homes and policies can require a proportion
of dwellings to meet the category standard in Building Regulations Part M, based on evidence
and viability. The adaptation of existing homes to support independent living should also be
considered.

8.5.2.8 An increasing proportion of the borough’s homes are part of the private rented sector,
including purpose built and managed rented housing (Build to Rent). The Review will need to
consider how different models such as Build to Rent homes and low cost home ownership
initiatives (such as First Homes) could form part of the housing mix.

Policy HO4: Housing mix and quality in Telford

Approach:

Support delivery of a range of housing and improved housing standards.

Proposals:

1. To adopt an approach to the Nationally Described Space Standards (NDSS) either:

a. Continue to require major developments to deliver a range of housing types, sizes
and tenures and to meet the Nationally Described Space Standards (NDSS); or

b. Apply the NDSS to all new developments (including conversions).

2. Setting out a housing mix (size, type and tenure) to reflect need in the borough. This
could be provided in the policy or through a Supplementary Planning Document;

3. Consider other housing design requirements in response to changing lifestyles and
working patterns, including minimum garden and amenity space standards for new homes;

4. Setting specific standards for energy efficiency in new homes to reduce water and
energy use and adapt to the changing climate;

5. Set out specific measures for adaptable, accessible and wheelchair homes as set
out in Building Regulations Part M.

Do you agree with the policy proposals? Are there any other proposals the Council
should consider?

Page 74



Affordable housing (Policies HO5 and HO6)

8.5.2.9 While housing affordability across the borough has remained stable in recent years
and affordable housing delivery has increased, the total stock has not increased significantly
over the last five years due to the impact of ‘Right to Buy’, redevelopment, other sales and
shared ownership ‘stair casing’.

8.5.2.10 Both the Council’s Housing Strategy and the Review provide a framework to secure
meaningful increases in affordable homes delivery. Affordable housing must be genuinely
affordable based on local values and the types and tenures of new homes must meet local
needs. Policies will set out the percentage of affordable homes sought on new schemes, which
could differ by type or location of development and subject to viability to ensure that policies
are deliverable.

Affordable Housing, Wellington

8.5.2.11 As part of the review the Council will consider the WMCA’s localised definition of
affordable housing which is based on local people paying no more than 35% of their salary on
mortgages or rent. The review will also set out how the Council expects to work with registered
providers, the models of affordable housing expected and examine opportunities to increase
housing supply through approaches such as community based housing. The Council will
investigate opportunities to help local people, in particular key workers and veterans, to find
and sustain the homes needed. The Council will also look at ways to protect existing social
housing stock, for example through limiting ‘stair casing’, the targeted reinvestment of sales
proceeds and discouraging other sales.

8.5.2.12 The Council will consider if planning guidance could address matters such as
affordable housing tenure, on-site provision, design and layout, and clarifying tenure neutrality
in terms of design principles (including parking) and integration within schemes. The provision
of on-site affordable housing remains a priority to create sustainable, accessible, affordable
and integrated communities.

Policy HO5: Affordable housing thresholds and percentages

TWLP Review Issues & Options

Page 75



Approach:

Update the affordable housing policy requirements based on evidence of need and viability.

Proposals:

1. Set a borough-wide affordable housing requirement on sites of 10 dwellings or more.

2. Consider affordable housing definition which links to local income rather than house
prices.

3. Set different affordable housing requirements by type, size and tenure as well as
proportion, to reflect varying needs.

Do you agree with the proposed affordable housing needs proposals? Are there any
other proposals the Council should consider?

Policy HO6: Delivery of affordable housing

Approach:

Clarify the policy approach for on-site provision, delivery mechanisms and tenures of
affordable homes.

Proposals:

1. Set out affordable housing tenure requirements in policy and/or guidance.

2. Prepare a supplementary planning document which sets out guidance on the Council’s
approach to affordable housing delivery.

Do you agree with the proposed affordable housing delivery proposals? Are there
any other proposals the Council should consider?

Page 76



Specialist and supported accommodation (Policy HO7)

8.5.2.13 The Local Plan needs to provide a range of homes to meet the needs of communities
and ensure those who need specialist and supported accommodation(25) can find a home that
is right for them. The Review will instil principles of intergeneration, co-location and interaction
in future communities. A Supplementary Planning Document will be prepared to set out how
specialist and supported accommodation could incorporate contemporary design standards
and features, such as Housing our Ageing Population Panel for Innovation (HAPPI) principles
of design. The Review will also consider further opportunities to meet housing needs for specific
vulnerable groups by way of off-site financial contributions.

Policy HO7: Specialist and supported housing

Approach:

Review the policy approach to delivering specialist and supported housing needs.

Proposals:

1. Review Policy HO7 to either:

a. Continue with the current Policy HO7 approach which supports specialist and supported
housing subject to meeting needs, location and design criteria; or

b. Provide an expanded policy approach which includes additional criteria for specialist
and supported accommodation needs

2. Consider measures to secure supported and specialist accommodation through new
development this could include potential for thresholds / proportions of provision on site

3. Identify further opportunities to meet housing needs for specific vulnerable groups by
way of off-site financial contributions.

Do you agree with the proposed specialist housing policy proposals? Are there any
other proposals the Council should consider?

25 Specialist and supported accommodation includes housing for older people, people with
disabilities, people with mental health needs, people with complex needs, people at risk of
homelessness who have a (non-assessed) mental health need, and young vulnerable
people.

TWLP Review Issues & Options

Page 77



Providing pitches for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople (Policies HO8 and
HO9)

8.5.2.14 The Council should identify traveller sites for at least ten years’ worth of need(26).
The Council facilitated delivery of an extension to the Lodge Road site for Gypsy and Traveller
pitches; however, there is an outstanding need to be met during the current plan period. The
Council is updating its evidence to establish future accommodation needs. Where applications
are made for existing and future sites, they should be well designed, meet modern standards
and be fit for purpose for permanent and transit residents.

Policy HO8: Meeting the needs of the Gypsy and Traveller community

Approach:

Update the evidence for Travellers’ needs and, if required, identify new site(s).

Do you agree with the proposed policy approach for Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling
Showpeople accommodation? Are there any other policy approaches the Council
should consider?

Policy HO9: Gypsy and Traveller developments

Approach:

Consider any new or revised criteria-based policy requirements for applications.

Do you agree with the proposed policy approach for Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling
Showpeople developments? Are there any other policy approaches the Council
should consider?

Rural housing (Policies HO10 and HO11)

8.5.2.15 The Local Plan supports a limited amount of infill housing (Policy HO10) in Edgmond,
High Ercall, Lilleshall, Tibberton and Waters Upton. Housing delivery in the five villages has
varied, with Tibberton accommodating the most new housing. Through the review there is an
opportunity to consider whether alternative policy approaches should be taken forward; for
example, distributing housing across more villages. An assessment of facilities and services
against a revised set of criteria would be undertaken to inform the list of villages.

26 Planning policy for traveller sites (2015)Page 78



8.5.2.16 Several villages have prepared neighbourhood plans to manage future development
including allocating small and medium-sized sites suitable for housing in the area(27). Through
the review, decisions for new housing sites could be community-led and could also be supported
in new or revised neighbourhood plans in consultation with local residents.

Policy HO10: Residential development in the rural area

Approach:

Consider alternative policy approaches to housing delivery in the rural area.

Proposals:

1. Continue with the current approach which directs limited infill housing to Edgmond,
High Ercall, Lilleshall, Tibberton and Waters Upton.

2. Establish a revised list of villages which may include some, all or more villages, than
at present.

3. Support housing allocations in these villages through locally-prepared neighbourhood
plans.

4. Allocate housing sites in these villages through the Local Plan review.

5. Identify additional previously developed land opportunities in the rural area for housing.

How should the Local Plan meet the housing needs of rural communities?

8.5.2.17 Elsewhere in the rural area, affordable housing delivery has proven challenging, with
issues of eligibility for affordable housing (need and local connection), design and land values.
Other options to Policy HO11 could be considered, for example allowing some market housing
to facilitate delivery of rural exception sites. The local connections criteria, cascade arrangements
and affordable housing allocations process will also be reviewed to clarify rural affordable
housing provision for people who have a clear need to live in a community and has strong local
connections.

Policy HO11: Affordable rural exceptions

Approach:

Consider alternative policy approaches to delivering affordable rural exceptions.

Proposals:

1. Support affordable exception sites and some market housing in rural villages.

27 Paragraph 69 National Planning Policy Framework (2019)

TWLP Review Issues & Options

Page 79



2. Set out revised policy criteria for affordable exception sites to address affordable need
and location requirements.

3. Review the local connection criteria and arrangements for allocating affordable homes.

Do you agree with the policy proposals for affordable rural exceptions? Are there
any other proposals the Council should consider?

8.5.3 Proposed new policies

Telford New Town estates

8.5.3.1 The Council’s Housing Strategy focuses on housing renewal in the borough, starting
with some of the earliest new town housing estates. A ‘New Town Futures’ Programme is
proposed in the draft Housing Strategy to help revitalise South Telford and to build stronger
communities with local district centres as hubs.

8.5.3.2 The Review can set out a framework to support regeneration and redevelopment
opportunities; for example, encouraging development on suitable small windfall (unallocated)
sites within designated areas and reinvestment of council tax and business rates in infrastructure
to support growth and regeneration in these areas. The Council supports the positive
redevelopment and improvement of existing homes to address climate change and reduce fuel
poverty.

Proposed policy: New Town Estates

Approach:

A policy framework that supports housing renewal in the borough

Proposals:

1. Support the delivery of smaller previously developed sites on windfall sites;

2. Encourages site assembly for the purposes of regeneration;

3. Consider measures to control HMO’s;

4. Designate areas through the policies map to support regeneration;

5. Encourage the use of advanced methods of construction in delivering new homes
including replacing housing stock;

6. Leverage other funding opportunities that might arise to support regeneration
opportunities;

7. Supporting innovative approaches that lead to quality development; andPage 80



8. Improving access within and between new town estates, town and district centres
and employment areas.

How should the Local Plan support the regeneration of New Town Estates?

Self-build and custom house building in Telford

8.5.3.3 Self-build and custom house building is where individuals, or groups, build or complete
homes for their own occupation(28). Policy HO11 supports affordable self and custom-build
homes in the rural area but this does not preclude sites coming forward in Telford and Newport.
A new policy could support self-build homes on smaller, previously developed sites and
encourage quality design.

Proposed policy: Self-build and custom house building

Approach:

Supporting self-build and custom house building opportunities in the borough

Proposals:

1. A criteria-based policy that supports the housing needs of different groups in the
community, including self-build and custom house building, based on evidence of needs;
and/or

2. Allocate sites for self-build and custom house building based on the interest and
preferences of people on the self-build register.

Do you agree with the policy proposals set out above? Are there any other policy
options the Council should consider?

8.5.4 Policies proposed to be retained with no changes

8.5.4.1 The following policies are proposed to be retained with no changes:

28 Self-build and Custom House building Act 2015 (as amended by the Housing and Planning
Act 2016)

TWLP Review Issues & Options

Page 81



HO1 Housing requirement
HO3 Housing trajectory

Do you have any other comments on housing policies as part of the Local Plan
review?

8.6 Natural environment

8.6.1 Introduction

8.6.1.1 The Local Plan natural environment policies cover biodiversity, trees, public open
space and strategic landscapes. The policies are embedded within the borough’s existing,
extensive network of functioning green infrastructure and within the original design of the New
Town of Telford as a ‘Forest City.’ They seek to protect the valuable natural assets of the borough
in line with the NPPF(29) and NPPG and to set out expectations on developers.

8.6.1.2 The review provides an opportunity to review natural environment policies and
proposals set within the context of recent policy and legislative announcements. This includes
regulations(30)which seek to embed the legal protection to habitats, species and designated
sites which were secured through the EU Habitats Directive(31) and the EU Birds Directive(32) in
the UK legislative framework when the UK leaves the EU; and the Environment Bill which
introduces net gain through planning as a new mandatory requirement (subject to
consultation(33)). Locally, the Council sits on the Shropshire Hills Area of Outstanding Natural
Beauty (AONB) partnership and is involved in the process to review, update and adopt the
AONB management plan. The most recent update was adopted in 2019.

29 National Planning Policy Framework (2019)
30 The Conservation of Habitats & Species (amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019
31 The Council Directive 92/43/EEC of 21 May 1992 on the conservation of natural habitats

and of wild fauna and flora.
32 Directive 2009/147/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 30 November

2009 on the conservation of wild birds.
33 British Standard BS 8683 Process for designing and implementing Biodiversity Net Gain

– Specification Page 82

https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:31992L0043


Trees at the Wrekin

8.6.1.3 In July 2020 Natural England granted the Council an organisational licence to operate
Strategic Newt Licencing as an alternative to traditional mitigation licencing for developments
that occur near to great crested newt populations. District level licencing calculates the impact
of a particular development in terms of the number of ponds affected and the likelihood of great
crested newts being present and calculates a Conservation Payment which is then spent by
the Habitat Delivery Body (led by the Council) to deliver newt habitat in a strategic way across
the borough.

8.6.2 Policies to be retained and amended

8.6.2.1 The review provides an opportunity to undertake a significant review of the Natural
Environment chapter both in terms of the existing policies and supporting text to address local
priorities and respond to national policy and legislative requirements.

8.6.2.2 Linked to several proposed policy amendments set out below it is proposed to produce
a ‘Designing Naturally’ Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) covering biodiversity, trees,
open spaces and design. The SPD will define public open space and provide guidance on the
type, quality, design and appropriate siting of public open space (including play areas and sports
facilities) that would be expected. It will consider the circumstances in which the Council will
accept off-site provision, ongoing maintenance and management including the use of Section
106 agreements, the adoption of open space by the local planning authority, and the use of
Community Use Agreements.

Biodiversity and trees (NE1 and NE2)

8.6.2.3 Policy NE1 will need to be revised including to reflect the great crested newt district
level licencing, the introduction of mandatory biodiversity net gain as set out in the Environment
Bill (set out in a new policy) and to reflect other proposed amendments and new policies within
this chapter.

TWLP Review Issues & Options

Page 83



8.6.2.4 Proposed amendments to Policy NE2 are based on its use in decisions, ongoing
Council aspirations for green space and canopy cover and to reflect standing advice from
Forestry Commission and Natural England regarding protection of ancient woodlands and aged
and veteran trees. The Council also proposes to provide a guidance note to developers setting
out the information required as part of an Arboricultural Impact Assessment and a Tree Survey.

Policy NE1: Biodiversity and geodiversity

Approach:

Amend the Policy to reflect local and national policy change.

Proposals:

1. To establish mandatory Biodiversity Net Gain and to set the required uplift in biodiversity
units across all developments in the borough (also covered in a proposed new policy); and

2. To introduce the application of an Urban Greening Factor to all developments in the
borough (also covered in a proposed new policy); and

3. To introduce the proposed production and adoption of a Supplementary Planning
Document covering the natural environment; and

4. To update the requirements around ecological surveys to broaden the definitions of
these surveys to ‘future proof’ the policy against coming changes in the way that ecology
is assessed, measured and reported in the planning process; and

5. To introduce the Council’s Strategic Newt Licencing scheme which allows for strategic
great crested newt mitigation on a district level; and

6. To provide additional protection to ancient woodlands, aged, veteran and ancient trees
in line with Forestry Commission and Natural England Standing Advice; and

7. To set a standard buffer distance between developments and ancient woodland.

Do you agree with the proposals for Policy NE1: Biodiversity and geodiversity? Are
there any other changes you would like the Council to consider?

Policy NE2: Trees, hedegrows and woodlands

Approach:

Amend the policy to reflect the Councils ambition for the borough as a forest community
and to reflect local and national guidance/advice.

Proposals: Page 84



1. To ensure that impacts upon ancient woodland and veteran and aged trees are not
permitted; and

2. To support developments which exceed the minimumRoot Protection Areas for retained
trees; and

3. To ensure that the Root Protection Area for aged and veteran trees retained within
developments always exceeds 15 times the trunk diameter or 5m beyond the crown,
whichever is the larger; and

4. To support developments which design sites to appropriately buffer existing woodlands
and to have appropriately designed interfaces with existing woodlands where public open
space and then highways face onto woodland edges (with schemes where garden land
faces onto retained woodland being resisted); and

5. To ensure that ancient woodland is buffered by a distance of 30m from development;
and

6. To include a tree planting palate which mixes native trees of local provenance with
climate change resilient species.

Do you agree with the proposals for Policy NE2: Trees, woodlands and hedgerows?
Are there any other proposals you would like the Council to consider?

Public open spaces (Policies NE3, NE4 and NE5)

8.6.2.5 Amendments to Policy NE3 will seek to clarify the Council’s expectations for public
open space. The supporting text will define public open space and give greater protection to
school playing fields and prevent the loss of those facilities as a result of development. The
borough has a number of formal parks which under proposals would be named in the policy
along with criteria to help protect the parks, they would also be included on the policies map.

8.6.2.6 Policy NE4 sets out guidance for the provision of public open space in major
developments. The policy could clarify the Council’s expectations and include defined triggers
in terms of child bed spaces for the provision of public open space and sports facilities. This
policy will be supported at the Draft Plan stage by an updated Playing Pitch Strategy, an updated
Play Strategy and a proposed outdoor recreation strategy for the borough. Policy NE5 seeks
to secure the appropriate management and maintenance of public open space. The policy will
clarify the Council’s expectations for landscape management planning in perpetuity and the
ongoing funding of management operations, supplemented by planning guidance.

Policy NE3: Existing public open space

Approach:

Amend the policy for clarification.

TWLP Review Issues & Options

Page 85



Proposals:

1. The Council will amend the adopted policy to ensure the protection of school playing
fields in line with Sport England’s Playing Fields Policy.

2. Define planning boundaries for Telford Town Park and formal parks within the borough
on the policies map, name the parks within the policy and provide criteria to protect the
parks from unwanted development.

Do you support the proposal for Policy NE3: Existing public open space? Are there
any other proposals you would like the Council to consider?

Policy NE4: Provision of public open space

Approach:

Amend the policy to provide clear, detailed triggers for the provision of public open space.

Proposals:

1. To provide a definition of public open space which puts the focus on land which can
be actively used by members of the public. Although other open land may be provided for
example to meet biodiversity or sustainable urban drainage needs of the development the
Council wishes to be clear that sufficient land with public access is a priority; and

2. To provide a trigger for provision of play areas to development:

a) On sites providing more than 75 and less than 200 new child bed spaces (or where
two or more adjacent sites are combining to provide this level of new bed spaces), a “local”
equipped area for play;

b) On sites of 200 new childbed spaces or more (or where two or more adjacent sites
are combining to provide this level of new bed spaces), a “neighbourhood” equipped area
for play.

c) The Council will provide accompanying clarifying details on the design, buffering,
location and standards for provision of different types of public open space in an associated
SPD; and

d) To provide a clear trigger for the provision of sports facilities within the policy and to
set out accompanying clarifying details in the associated SPD; and

e) To seek the provision of a range of community open spaces within developments
including allotments, community orchards, village greens and areas of public art.

Page 86



3. To set out mitigation measures where off-site contributions are required.

Do you support the proposals for Policy NE4: Provision of public open space? Are
there other proposals that you would like the Council to consider?

Policy NE5: Management and maintenance of public open space

Approach:

Amend the policy to provide further clarity to developers of the Councils expectations for
the management and maintenance of public open space.

Proposals:

1. To clarify that long term management of public open space, play facilities, sports
facilities and associated infrastructure, landscaping, sustainable urban drainage features
and biodiversity habitats and any other associated features on development sites is to be
in perpetuity; and

2. To clarify that developers will be expected to demonstrate funding for these
management activities, and any others required by the site design, in perpetuity; and

3. To set out how the Council will oversee and approve the production of landscape
management plans covering the elements set out in (1) above and will oversee and approve
any changes to the management regime in the long term.

Do you support the proposals for Policy NE5: Management andmaintenance of public
open space? Are there any other proposals you wish the Council to consider?

8.6.3 Proposed new policies

Biodiversity Net Gain

8.6.3.1 “Biodiversity is essential to sustain our society and economy. Enhancing biodiversity
is integral to sustainable development, and Biodiversity Net Gain is an approach to embed and
demonstrate biodiversity enhancement within development. It involves first avoiding and then
minimising biodiversity loss as far as possible, and achievingmeasurable net gains that contribute
towards local and strategic biodiversity priorities(34).”

34 Baker J. et al. (2019) Biodiversity net gain. Good Practice Principles For Development: A
Practical Guide

TWLP Review Issues & Options

Page 87



8.6.3.2 Biodiversity Net Gain is a new approach to development and land management that
aims to leave the natural environment in a measurably better state than before. The NPPF (35)and
Policy NE1 of the Local Plan already require development to deliver net gains in biodiversity.
The Council will ensure that all development delivers a net gain for biodiversity through
appropriate habitat creation, restoration or enhancement. The delivery of which should, in the
first instance, be on site. Should an offsite solution be considered the most appropriate and
effective route to achieving net gain the Council will ensure these actions are secured via
planning conditions and obligations.

8.6.3.3 The monitoring, maintenance and management of any offsite provision will potentially
be secured through the use of ‘conservation covenants’ and monitoring requirements expected
to be brought into use through the Environment Bill.

8.6.3.4 In order to accurately determine whether a net gain in biodiversity can be delivered
by development, the Council expects that, when requested, a precise ecological assessment
by a suitably qualified person will be undertaken to accepted national standards.

8.6.3.5 During this process a ‘biodiversity gain plan’ should be submitted that measures
habitat extent, distinctiveness, condition, connectivity and strategic significance - calculating
the sites biodiversity units both before and after development. The Council considers that the
use of the Government’s published Biodiversity Metric (currently v.2.0) is the appropriate
mechanism for determining and quantifying a sites existing biodiversity value and the consequent
measures required to ensure biodiversity net gain through development is achieved.

8.6.3.6 Any compensatory proposals must deliver habitats of greater biodiversity value than
of those being lost through development. The Council considers the minimum biodiversity uplift
development schemes must deliver to be 10% above the biodiversity unit value of the habitats
to be lost. This is in keeping with the ‘replacement percentage’ proposed by the 2020 Environment
Bill, which has been supported by a full economic impact assessment.

8.6.3.7 Any off site contributions required to achieve Biodiversity Net Gain will be delivered
in line with local, regional and national priorities for nature conservation and directed by a
borough wide Local Nature Recovery Strategy. This strategy will be published at the Draft Plan
stage of the Review and will identify a suite of sites capable of acting as a provisional local
Habitat Bank. The Council will also set out the process to be followed in greater detail. This
approach will eventually be incorporated into the proposed ‘Designing Naturally’ SPD.

8.6.3.8 The Council will also utilise updated accessible green space mapping (ANGSt),
updated accessible woodland (AWS) mapping and outdoor recreational value calculations
(ORVal) of key sites to ensure the delivery of biodiversity net gain does not negatively impact
upon local communities’ ability to access the natural environment.

New Policy: Biodiversity Net Gain

Proposals:

1. Ensuring all development delivers at least a 10% net gain for biodiversity through
appropriate habitat creation, restoration or enhancement.

35 Paragraph 170, National Planning Policy Framework (2019)Page 88



2. Measuring net gain through the use of the Government’s published Biodiversity Metric
(currently v.2.0).

3. Directing offsite habitat delivery through a Nature Recovery Network.

4. Establishing a provisional local habitat bank.

Do you agree with the Council’s response to the proposals to mandate Biodiversity
Net Gain through the Environment Bill? Are there any other proposals to delivering
Biodiversity Net Gain that the Council should consider?

Urban Greening

8.6.3.9 Urban Greening is an integrative approach that aims to increase the quality, quantity
and functionality of green infrastructure across the built environment. It uses a simple process
that quantifies the amount of green infrastructure a development provides, providing an Urban
Greening Score between 0 and 1. Green Infrastructure elements can include the retention of
semi-natural vegetation, the provision of street trees, hedges, areas of flower rich perennial
planting, bird and bat boxes, green roofs, green walls, ponds, wetlands and sustainable drainage
systems, including vegetated swales, rain gardens and permeable paving.

8.6.3.10 By clearly setting out an appropriate minimum Urban Greening Score in the Local
Plan that all developments must achieve, developers and planners can have increased
confidence during the site master planning and application process.

8.6.3.11 It is proposed that at the Draft Plan stage the Council will produce a Topic Paper
that will set out how the Council would expect Urban Greening Scores to be calculated, ‘weighting’
the scoring of each individual element of Green Infrastructure in order to locally tailor the
approach - enabling future development to help address local issues such as surface water
flooding and the effects of the urban heat island effect. Weighting will also address the provision
of appropriate levels of accessible local green space, identified through updated ANGStmapping,
and provision of woodland canopy cover, identified through updated canopy cover calculations
and woodland opportunity mapping.

New Policy: Urban Greening

Proposals:

1. Identifying local need

a) Locally tailoring an Urban Greening Score for Telford and Wrekin.

b) Using an emerging national urban greening standard of 0.3-0.4

2. Defining the size of developments required to deliver urban greening:

a) Applying Urban Greening requirements to all developments, or

TWLP Review Issues & Options

Page 89



b) Limiting the policy to major developments only.

3. Defining the spatial extent of where urban greening measures will be required:

a) Requiring all developments within the borough to deliver urban greening, or

b) Limiting the requirement for urban greening to the urban areas (as defined by Figure
5 in the adopted Local Plan) and sustainable urban extensions.

Which of the above proposals do you think should be pursued? Are there any other
proposals you wish the Council to consider?

Are there any other proposals to the delivery of green infrastructure within the built
environment that the Council should consider?

8.6.4 Policies proposed to be retained with no changes

8.6.4.1 The following Natural Environment policies will be retained with no proposed changes:

NE6 Green Network
NE7 Shropshire Hills Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty AONB & Strategic Landscapes

Do you have any other comments to make on the Natural Environment chapter?

8.7 Community

8.7.1 Introduction

8.7.1.1 The Local Plan has secured new local centres, community facilities and new and
expanded schools through the planning process. The Plan seeks to protect, enhance and deliver
new facilities through Policy COM1 and encourages the provision of cultural facilities in Policy
COM2. The impact of Covid-19 has shown the value of local community facilities to residents
and workers.

8.7.1.2 Community facilities should be protected in the first instance in their current use and
secondly as an alternative community facility. However, there must also be flexibility in
understanding that not all community facilities will continue to have a viable use and other uses
may be more appropriately introduced. Significant new developments should include provision
for community facilities whether through the planning application or to be provided by financial
contribution.

Page 90



Changes to consider

8.7.1.3 The NPPF(36)provides significant support for the provision and retention of social,
recreation and cultural facilities and services by achieving the following:

Planning positively for the provision and use of shared spaces, community facilities such
as local shops, meeting places, sports venues, open space, cultural buildings, public houses
and places of worship) and other local services to enhance the sustainability of communities
and residential environment;
Taking into account and supporting the delivery of local strategies to improve health, social
and cultural well-being for all sections of the community;
Guarding against the unnecessary loss of value facilities and services, particularly where
this would reduce the community’s ability to meet its day-to-day needs;
Ensuring that established shops, facilities and services are able to develop and modernise,
and are retained for the benefit of the community; and
Ensuring an integrated approach to considering the location of housing, economic uses
and community facilities and services.

8.7.1.4 In July 2020 the Government introduced a revised Use Class Order grouping numerous
uses together. Some local community facilities may be affected, for example:

More protection for public houses (now classed as sui generis) where a change of use will
now require planning permission.
A new use class (F.2) which covers essential local facilities such as small local shops and
community halls/meeting places. By separating these uses from the new “commercial,
business and service” there is the potential that less essential local facilities could be lost
through permitted development.

8.7.1.5 Whilst much investment has gone into new and expanded community facilities in the
borough including schools, sports facilities and cultural facilities there has been a decline in
other areas. Facilities such as public houses have struggled in recent years with a number of
sites falling vacant across the borough where there traditional role as a community meeting
place has declined.

36 National Planning Policy Framework (2019)

TWLP Review Issues & Options

Page 91



Telford Town Park

8.7.2 Policies to be retained and amended

Community facilities (Policy COM1)

8.7.2.1 Policy COM1 seeks to identify how the borough should meet the needs of existing
and new communities through themaintenance and enhancement of existing community facilities
and the provision of new community facilities. In practice it has become clear that this policy
should be amended to clarify the protection afforded to facilities such as Public Houses in line
with the NPPF.

8.7.2.2 There is additional scope for the policy to clarify when financial or other contributions
(such as land in kind) will be sought for the upgrade, enhancement and provision of new
community facilities. Further clarification around financial contributions in lieu of on-site provision
of facilities could be provided where, for example, a number of developments could contribute
towards the upgrade, enhancement or provision of new facilities in an area.

Policy COM1: Community facilities

Approach:

Clarify community facilities in line with the NPPF and update the provisions for loss of and
provision of community facilities.

Proposals:

1. Review the current definition of community facility in paragraph 7.0.1 and extend the
definition to include other community uses such as public houses as referenced in the
NPPF.

Page 92



2. Clarify the circumstances where contributions would be sought for on and off site
upgrade, enhancement and provision of new community facilities.

3. Review and clarify the circumstances where the loss of a community facility will be
supported including after an appropriate period of marketing the facility.

Do you agree with the policy proposals set out above? Are there are other proposals
the Council should consider?

8.7.3 Policies proposed to be retained with no changes

8.7.3.1 The following policy is proposed to be retained with no changes:

COM2 Culture

Are there any other comments you would like to make on this section?

8.8 Connections

8.8.1 Introduction

8.8.1.1 Connectivity describes how well places within the borough are connected to each
other through a variety of transportation methods, as well as the coverage and quality of
communication networks. The challenge for the borough is to use the Local Plan to re-shape
and create an urban form and density that is more conducive for cycling, walking and public
transport provision – in addition to supporting the use of electric vehicles. Such active travel
measures can promote healthy lifestyle behaviours which in turn has positive benefits for the
mental and physical health and wellbeing of residents and workers.

8.8.1.2 The current Telford &Wrekin Local Transport Plan 2011 - 2026 (the LTP) also identifies
the need to make better use of the existing infrastructure, acknowledging that the car will remain
essential for many journeys, particularly long distance trips. Key issues include managing traffic
from new developments, providing access to key services, accommodating increasing travel
without increasing carbon emissions, maintaining reductions in road traffic casualties; creating
an urban form that encourages cycling and walking trips, and enhancing the image of public
transport. The LTP is to be reviewed and will take account of the Local Plan Review emerging
strategy and policies.

TWLP Review Issues & Options

Page 93



Telford Cycle Route

8.8.1.3 Advanced, high quality and reliable communications infrastructure is essential for
economic growth and social well-being. Planning policies and decisions should support the
expansion of electronic communications networks, including next generation mobile technology
(such as 5G) and full fibre broadband connections. Policies should allow the delivery of high
quality digital infrastructure in order to maximise economic growth and the benefits this will
bring.

8.8.2 Policies to be retained and amended

Sustainable Transport and Highways (Policies C1 and C4)

8.8.2.1 Policy C1 sits alongside the LTP in its mission to encourage sustainable alternatives
to car travel. For the purposes of the Local Plan sustainable modes include walking, cycling,
bus and rail travel. No major changes to the policy are proposed; however, the opportunity to
review policy requirements including the policy position on Area Travel Plans will be considered.

8.8.2.2 Two main issues have been identified with Policy C4. Firstly, increasing workloads
and budget restrictions have made it increasingly difficult to manage landscaping on highways.
For example, where tree lined highways are proposed these could be located within the curtilage
of residential properties which would not compromise the overall visual concept of the green
streetscape. The second issue concerns street lighting positions not being considered as part
of submitted landscape plans. Landscaping and tree schemes have been approved only to be
compromised by street lighting, resulting in a negative visual impact on the street scene. Policy
C4 could also refer to provision of on-street electric vehicle charging points and the provision
of this facility in shared parking areas within developments.

Policy C1: Promoting alternatives to the car

Approach:

Strengthen the level of support for sustainable transport options

Proposals:

1. Review the position on Area Wide Travel Plans and consider site travel plans in
support of sustainable and active travel.

Page 94



2. Clarify the need to enhance the ‘connectivity’ of walking and cycle routes to destinations
such as town, district centres, employment sites and green spaces.

3. Include specific reference to the enhancement of Public Rights of Way alongside
strategic walking and cycling routes.

4. Provide onsite walking and cycling infrastructure that allows access to the wider
network as well as providing space for walking, cycling and jogging.

Do you agree with the policy proposals set out above? Are there any other proposals
the Council should consider?

Policy C4: Design of roads and streets

Approach:

Recognise the policy’s contribution to tackling climate change and urban greening

Proposals:

1. Include reference to street trees (where proposed) being placed within the curtilage
of residential properties where it is appropriate and safe to do so.

2. Include the requirement for street lighting position to be submitted as part of
landscaping/tree schemes.

3. Include reference to electric vehicle charging points for on-street and shared parking
in developments.

Do you agree with the policy proposals set out above? Are there any other proposals
the Council should consider?

Parking (Policy C5)

8.8.2.3 Policy C5 provides for a mix of parking including residential, commercial and Town
Centre provision that is important to the vitality of the borough but the needs and demands are
changing and flexibility is needed to respond. It is proposed the associated parking standards
(set out in Appendix F of the Local Plan) are removed and separate planning guidance is
produced. This would allow the Council to review and update the standards in line with changing
national and local context without the need to wait for a Local Plan review. This will allow the

TWLP Review Issues & Options

Page 95



Council to respond with greater flexibility to the needs of development proposals. It is proposed
that Policy C5 makes appropriate reference to the need to provide levels of parking in line with
‘latest’ guidance.

8.8.2.4 Electric vehicles now represent an increasingly accessible alternative to petrol and
diesel cars. Government announcements on the ban on the sale of diesel, petrol and hybrid
cars will be brought forward to 2035 and accelerate the market for electric vehicles impacting
on manufacturing and supply changes as well as infrastructure to support the charging of
vehicles. The borough remains highly dependent on car use and coupled with the Council
declaring a climate emergency, the review of the Local Plan means that now is the time to future
proof for the network of charging infrastructure that will be required to support the switch. The
Government have consulted on proposals to make electric vehicle charging points mandatory
in all new homes; the Review will consider how electric vehicle charging can be delivered in
the borough.

Policy C5: Design of parking

Approach:

Update the policy to support carbon neutrality in new developments

Proposals:

1. Introduce requirement for the provision of electric vehicle charging points in all new
residential developments, including communal parking areas. This could be a requirement
to provide appropriate cabling or universal charging point.

2. Introduce requirement for electric vehicle charging points in all non-residential
developments that require parking provision. This could include the provision of a certain
percentage of charging points as well as infrastructure such as ducting and cabling to
support the installation of more points as and when they are needed.

3. Associated Parking Standards (Appendix F) – development of separate planning
guidance for parking standards.

Do you agree with the policy proposals set out above? Are there any other proposals
the Council should consider?

Communications (Policy C7)

8.8.2.5 Better communications networks will play a key role in the delivery of the ‘internet of
things’ which will be focused around 5G networks. This digital infrastructure will help facilitate
changes in the way we work, the way we interact and spend leisure time. It will also address
issues of digital poverty that continue to exist in the borough.

Page 96



8.8.2.6 Communications policy will be updated as it refers to the Council’s superfast broadband
programme that has now been completed. The policy also needs to reflect the increased need
for the connectivity of residential and non-residential developments to the internet.

Policy C7: Enhancing communications network

Approach:

Update and strengthen policy in light of changing focus on digital infrastructure, opportunities
to deliver 5G networks and ensuring the delivery of connected communities

Proposals:

1. Update outdated text referring to information

2. Consider development implications of 5G infrastructure and whether they need
reflecting in policy

3. Strengthening the policy to require all new developments (residential and
non-residential) to install infrastructure to support digital connectivity of properties

Do you agree with the policy proposals set out above? Are there any other proposals
the Council should consider?

8.8.3 Policies proposed to be retained with no changes

8.8.3.1 The following policies to proposed be retained with no changes:

C2 Safeguarding rail and transport corridors
C3 Impact of development on highways
C4 Design of roads and streets
C6 Commuted parking payments
C8 New telecommunications development

Are there any other comments you would like to make on this section?

8.9 Built environment & heritage

8.9.1 Introduction

8.9.1.1 A key role of the Local Plan is to ensure development proposals deliver good design
and respect the character and heritage of the local area. The borough has a rich and diverse
heritage including a World Heritage Site, seven Conservation Areas, 12 Grade I, 53 Grade II*

TWLP Review Issues & Options

Page 97



and 778 Grade II Listed Buildings. The Council also has approximately 550 non designated
heritage assets which are valued locally due to their contribution to community identity or role
as important landmarks.

8.9.1.2 Local plan policies cover development design criteria, residential alterations and
extensions, design, historic environment designations (and non-designated heritage assets),
and land stability and contamination.

8.9.1.3 Government guidance(37) sets out a blueprint for how local planning authorities can
achieve quality and good design. The Government will introduce a National Model Design Code
setting out detailed standards for key elements of successful design. Regionally, the West
Midlands Design Charter(38) aims for high quality design in places and spaces and the Charter
can be used as an extra tool for local planning authorities.

8.9.2 Policies to be retained and amended

Design Policies (BE1 and BE2)

8.9.2.1 Policy BE1 considers key aspects of design. The policy could be expanded to reflect
updated national and regional guidance and to strengthen links with the review’s proposed
strategic priorities including climate resilience and mitigation, and health and wellbeing. This
could include:

Promoting good links, focusing on increasing the use of public transport, cycle ways and
public footpaths, while decreasing the need for motor vehicles through integrated design;
Delivering new developments that respond robustly to the challenges of climate change
through the integration of green infrastructure and urban greening, as well as creating
sustainable layouts and orientation, incorporating design features that facilitate energy
efficiency;
Better design to ensure intergenerational accommodation, including specialist
accommodation e.g. for those with mental or physical health issues such as dementia;
Promoting healthy lifestyle behaviours and environments through design;
Supporting modern methods of construction encompassing the latest development in
material, technology, design procedures, quantity surveying, facilities management, services,
structural analysis and design, and management studies; and
Ensuring the protection and enhancement of the natural and built environment for the long
term benefit of communities.

8.9.2.2 At the local level the National Design Guide (2019) considers that detailed and
measurable criteria for design that can be set out. Tools including workshops, design
advice/review services, design codes and guides such as the West Midlands Design Charter
could be encouraged through policy.

37 National Design Guide (2019), Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government
38 West Midland Design Charter (2020), West Midlands Combined AuthorityPage 98



8.9.2.3 Policy BE2, which addresses residential alterations and extensions, could promote
sustainability in smaller residential development proposals. The policy could also include other
design issues including safety and security, designing out crime, and the protection of significant
or prominent trees or other natural landscape features impacted by proposals.

Policy BE1: Design criteria

Approach:

Strengthen the policy to ensure good design is achieved for the future plan period

Proposals:

1. Consider expanding criteria within the policy to address the contribution design can
make to areas such as community wellbeing, sustainable travel as well as better places to
live and work.

2. Consider expanding the criteria to ensure high quality design of major and larger sites
includes Sustainable Urban Extensions, as referenced in Policy HO2.

3. Strengthen criteria which contributes towards climate neutrality including, for example,
the delivery of renewable energy, urban greening and connectivity to green space.

4. Consider the need for additional supporting guidance to reinforce climate resilience,
climate mitigation and latest design principals in design of new developments.

Do you agree with the policy proposals set out above? Are there any other proposals
that should be considered in the design criteria?

Policy BE2: Residential alterations

Approach:

Strengthening the policy to consider all impacts of alterations and extensions.

Proposals:

1. Strengthen the policy wording to better reflect the contribution of the policy towards
climate neutrality including the need for renewable energy provision in new development,
protection of existing trees, the layout of development and the potential for greening
measures such as new trees.

TWLP Review Issues & Options

Page 99



2. Include criteria covering reasonable regard to safety and security of developments.

Do you agree with the policy proposals set out above? Are there any other proposals
the Council should consider?

Heritage and conservation (Policies BE3, BE4, BE5 and BE6)

8.9.2.4 Policy BE3 determines the long term protection and enhancement of theWorld Heritage
Site (WHS) and its outstanding universal value. The policy needs to balance protection alongside
the management of new development within theWHS. In recent years there has been a number
of new developments within the area including infill development and it therefore may be
appropriate to consider the control of new development in the WHS.

8.9.2.5 New development can have a role to play in mitigating the impact of climate change,
this is especially the case in balancing the need to reduce the environmental impact of visitors
whilst maintaining the economic benefits to the area. This could be through encouraging
development of sustainable travel options as well as seeking high standards of design in new
developments and improving the energy efficiency of older buildings through a holistic approach
that uses an understanding of a building, its context, its significance, and all the factors affecting
energy use.

8.9.2.6 The Policy could consider the identification and protection of gateways and approaches
to the WHS within and in some cases outside the boundary. Gateways into the WHS have a
major impact on first impressions and design aspects could therefore be a consideration within
the policy.

8.9.2.7 There is a need to clarify wording of the Policy BE6 (Buildings of local interest) that
the ‘list of buildings of local interest’ are non-designated heritage assets as per the
NPPG(39)definition. To distinguish between the two a description of what is considered locally
listed buildings (non-designated heritage asset) and listed buildings (designated heritage assets)
is needed.

8.9.2.8 Consideration should also be given to the impacts of significant planning applications
in the area, including the redevelopment of the Ironbridge Power Station Site, which is expected
to provide up to 1,000 new homes, businesses and other uses in close proximity to the WHS.
Careful consideration is needed to align the policy with the potential impacts of new development,
minimising the potential implications to the WHS including harm to setting, traffic and increased
pressure on local services. Telford and Wrekin Council, in partnership with Shropshire Council
and the developers are proactively working to provide long term protection for the WHS, to
ensure a positive outcome.

39 National Planning Policy Guidance, paragraph 39.Page 100



8.9.2.9 Limited changes to Policies BE4 and BE5 are proposed such as the consideration of
development that might affect the ‘setting’ of listed buildings and conservation. The Council is
also considering an Article 4 direction introducing the need for planning permission when looking
to demolish buildings of local interest.

Policy BE 3: Ironbridge Gorge World Heritage Site

Approach:

To highlight the importance of theWHS and expanding the policy to reflect future challenges.

Proposals:

1. Amend the policy to reflect the impact of climate change on the built and natural heritage
environment within the WHS.

2. Consider tighter controls on in fill and new development within the WHS area.

3. Include criteria to control protect and enhance gateways and approaches into theWHS.

Do you agree with the policy proposals set out above? Are there any other proposals
the Council should consider?

Policies BE 4 (listed buildings) and BE 5 (conservation areas)

Approach:

Clarification of policy wording.

Proposal:

1. To consider rewording the policies to take into account the setting of Listed Buildings
and Conservation Areas.

Do you agree with the policy proposals set out above? Are there any other proposals
the Council should consider?

Policy BE 6: Buildings of local interest

Approach:

TWLP Review Issues & Options

Page 101



Clarification of policy wording.

Proposals:

1. To amend the wording of the policy to clarify and distinguish between buildings of local
interest as non-designated heritage assets.

2. To consider the possible implementation of an Article 4(2) direction to require prior
notification for the demolition of buildings of local interest.

Do you agree with the policy proposals set out above? Are there any other proposals
the Council should consider?

Land stability and land contamination (BE9 and BE10)

8.9.2.10 The planning system works alongside other systems including Building Regulations,
which seek to ensure that any development is structurally sound. The Coal Authority is
responsible for public safety risks arising from past coal mining activities and dealing with proven
claims for subsidence under the Coal Mining Subsidence Act 1991 and the Coal Industry Act
1994. The Mines and Quarries Act 1954 requires safeguarding of mine entries once they are
abandoned to protect health and safety.

8.9.2.11 An additional criterion within Policy BE9 could require an assessment of land stability
to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority, with a land stability report provided and agreed
before an application is determined. Another criterion could reinforce the importance of remedial
works prior to occupation of the development.

Lloyds Cottage, Ironbridge

8.9.2.12 The supporting text to Policy BE10 could clarify what is considered to be contaminated
land i.e. hazardous or toxic materials. The text could also state the potential threat of
contaminated land if not dealt with; that is, the risk to human health or serious pollution to water
quality and/or biodiversity. Further references could be made to the remediation and mitigationPage 102



of despoiled, degraded, derelict, contaminated, or unstable land, with the onus on the developer
and/or landowner for securing safe land/development free from pollution(40). The policy could
also require site investigation and a risk assessment to be undertaken by a suitably qualified
competent person(41) in accordance with established practices such as BS10175 (2017) ‘Code
of Practice for the Investigation of Potentially Contaminated Sites.

8.9.2.13 Reference should be made to the system for identifying and remediating statutorily
defined contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990, which
provides a risk based approach to the identification and remediation of land where contamination
poses an unacceptable risk to human health or the environment.

Policy BE 9: Land stability

Approach:

Clarify the requirements of the policy

Proposals:

1. To amend the policy to include clearer guidance on planning application requirements
relating to land stability.

2. Clarify the need for remedial works to have been undertaken prior to occupation of a
development to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority.

3. Include the need for proposals to be in accordance with relevant legislation related to
land stability.

Do you agree with the policy proposals set out above? Are there any other proposals
the Council should consider? Are the issues of land stability appropriately located
within this section of the Local Plan?

Policy BE 10: Land contamination

Approach:

To provide clearer guidance with relevant legislation.

Proposals:

1. Strengthen the policy in relation to the purpose of addressing land contamination and
the onus placed on the developer / landowner to secure development free from pollution.

40 Paragraph 179, National Planning Policy Framework (2019)
41 Annex 2, National Planning Policy Framework (2019)

TWLP Review Issues & Options

Page 103



2. To amend the policy to include clearer guidance on planning application requirements
relating to land contamination including a site investigation report provided by a qualified
competent person.

3. To amend the supporting text to include references to relevant legislation.

Do you agree with the policy proposals set out above? Are there any other proposals
the Council should consider? Are the issues of land stability appropriately located
within this section of the Local Plan?

8.9.3 Proposed new policies

Private amenity space

8.9.3.1 Private amenity space refers to a garden or balcony area directly accessible via a
residential dwelling. This space is important to provide privacy, open outlook, light and fresh air
for safe recreation and storage. It can also provide mental and physical health benefits to
residents and visitors and avoid over densification of development. While there are standards
for internal space (set out within the Nationally Described Space Standards(42)) there are no
national standards for private amenity space within residential units. If the Council were to
introduce a space standard for private amenity it would need to establish whether the introduction
of standards is needed.

8.9.3.2 Private and outdoor amenity space can assist in mitigation of climate change with
vegetation that contributes to biodiversity and space that is multi-functional; for socialising, play,
and sport, food growing and gardening. The provision of space that is easily accessible and
designed in the context of local character will assist in providing a sense of ownership to the
local community and will contribute to the health, well-being and perception of safety and
security.

New policy: Private amenity space

Approach:

Introduce policy to ensure adequate space is sought in the design of residential
developments and buildings.

Proposals:

1. To create a new policy ensuring high quality design that enhances and respects local
character and explains the requirements of private amenity space for residential units.

2. To amend Policy BE 1: Design Criteria referencing the need for adequate amenity
space.

42 Technical Housing Standards – Nationally Described Space Standards (2015)Page 104



3. Set out exceptional circumstances where development of garden property could be
supported.

4. Set out the standards in a form of appendices to the Local Plan or through separate
planning guidance.

Do you agree with the policy proposals set out above? Are there any other proposals
the Council should consider?

8.9.4 Policies proposed to be retained with no changes

8.9.4.1 The following policies are proposed to be retained with no changes:

BE 7 Parks and gardens of historic interest
BE 8 Archaeology and scheduled ancient monuments

Are there any other comments you would like to make on this section?

8.10 Environmental resources

8.10.1 Introduction

8.10.1.1 Several local plan policies seek to mitigate and adapt to the causes and effects of
climate change and managing environmental resources. However going forward all policy will
need to be considered in the context of the contribution it makes or impact upon, the achievement
of the Council’s aspiration for borough-wide carbon neutrality by 2030.

8.10.1.2 The Government is consulting on proposals to increase the energy efficiency
requirements to future-proof homes with low carbon heating and world-leading levels of energy
efficiency to be introduced by 2025, including no new gas connections after 2025.

8.10.1.3 The Council’s Becoming Carbon Neutral Action Plan, describes the initial actions
we will take to achieve the commitment for Council operations and activities to be carbon neutral
by 2030. The action plan also includes aspirations for the borough to achieve carbon neutrality
by 2030. Progress towards meeting these goals will be measured through the Telford & Wrekin
Council Becoming Carbon Neutral Action Plan and through the Annual Monitoring Report. In
light of these circumstances, the opportunity will be taken in the Review to ensure that policies
are robust, justified and challenging enough to contribute towards the Council’s Climate
Emergency declaration.

TWLP Review Issues & Options

Page 105



8.10.2 Policies to be retained and amended

Renewable energy (Policy ER1)

8.10.2.1 The Local Plan encourages low carbon and renewable energy generation
infrastructure. The Council continues to see low carbon development, energy conservation and
development adapted to impacts of climate change as issues of great importance. However,
investment in new renewable energy generation has reduced significantly since 2015 due to
restrictive national policy and the reduction of renewable incentives such as feed in tariffs.

8.10.2.2 The review is an opportunity to increase the use of renewable generation within new
developments (housing, industrial and commercial). This could include measures for individual
properties or at scale as part of a larger development. Renewable generation as part of
regeneration and renewal schemes could be a really useful measure in reducing energy cost
especially on affordable housing schemes or supported accommodation.

8.10.2.3 The Council has taken the lead on renewable generation projects in the borough
including the Combined Heat and Power system serving the Southwater area of Telford Town
Centre and Solar Farm. Where larger industrial and commercial sites come forward the policy
could seek the development of on-site generation at scale to serve multiple buildings, this could
include CHP plants, solar and in some cases potentially wind power.

Telford Solar Farm

8.10.2.4 The Council could consider whether it is best to allocate sites for renewable energy
production or to indicate suitable areas for such developments, especially for wind energy
development. Currently, wind turbines are not supported as a type of renewable energy
development in Policy ER1.

The Call for Sites is currently open and the Council is seeking submissions for land
for renewable energy development further information is available and submissions can
be made at www.telford.gov.uk/callforsites.

Page 106

http://www.telford.gov.uk/callforsites


8.10.2.5 Issues to consider for renewable energy development:

The Council cannot approve new turbines without a site allocation or identification of areas
suitable for wind energy development through the Local Plan review or Neighbourhood
Development Plans.
The current position of the Local Plan is that NDPs should allocate land for wind turbines
– given the need to address climate change this position needs to be reconsidered.

8.10.2.6 Recognising that not all new development opportunities will be able to provide carbon
mitigation there could be provision in policy to seek ‘carbon off-setting’ in the form of financial
contributions that could be used to provide benefits elsewhere in the borough. There are potential
exceptions where this maybe the case including the conversion of older buildings.

Policy ER1: Renewable energy

Approach:

Strengthen the support for renewable energy development

Proposals:

1. Review effectiveness of current policy criteria in enabling renewable energy
development

2. Consider direct allocation of sites for renewable energy generation including the
identification of sites and areas suitable for wind powered generation

3. Provide minimum % requirement for renewable energy usage on sites over a certain
size threshold

4. Criteria which requires an incorporation of onsite renewable energy generation on
new employment and commercial sites over a certain threshold – this could include wind,
combined heat and power and solar generation serving multiple properties

5. Potentially allowing for carbon offsetting in certain circumstances

Should the Council continue with the current criteria-based policy; allocate sites for
specific renewable energy development or identify broad areas which we consider
suitable?

TWLP Review Issues & Options

Page 107



Water conservation and efficiency (Policy ER10)

8.10.2.7 The Council recognises the positive contribution that water sensitive design can
make to the security and conservation of the borough’s water supplies and protect existing
water sources. Therefore, The Council will continue to encourage major development to
incorporate design features commensurate with the scale and type of development that will
support recycling and re-use of water to offset demand for potable water supplies.

8.10.2.8 Ameasure that the Council could consider is to increase the required water efficiency
standards as set out in the Building Regulations – Approved Document G. The current standard
is efficiency to limit consumption to 125 litre per person per day with the optional require of
increasing efficiency to 110 litre per person per day. The Council could through the review
process specify an increase in water efficiency standards subject to appropriate evidence.

Policy ER10: Water conservation and efficiency

Approach:

Consider expansion of water conservation and efficiency policy to a wider range of
developments

Proposals:

1. Adopt a higher standard of water efficiency in all new buildings

2. Strengthen the policy by requiring major developments to incorporate water
conservation/efficiency design measures

Do you agree with the policy proposals set out above? Are there any other proposals
the Council should consider?

8.10.3 Policies proposed to be retained with no changes

8.10.3.1 The following policies are proposed to be retained with no changes:

ER2 Mineral safeguarding
ER3 Maintaining supplies of crushed rock
ER4 Sand and gravel resources
ER5 Maintaining supplies of brick clay
ER6 Mineral development
ER7 Waste management facilities
ER8 Waste planning for residential developments
ER9 Waste planning for commercial, industrial and retail developments

Page 108



ER11 Sewerage systems and water quality
ER12 Flood risk management

Are there any other comments you would like to make on this section?

9 Next Steps

9.1 Introduction

9.1.1 This section sets out the next steps in the review process as well as summarising work
that is currently underway that will feed into the Preferred Options Stage.

9.2 Call for sites and SHELAA

9.2.1 To accompany the review process the Council have commenced a ‘Call for Sites’ to
establish what land is available for development in the borough. This can be for a range of uses
including employment, renewable energy, community facilities and housing.

9.2.2 The land submitted through the Call for Sites will be assessed as part of the Strategic
Housing & Employment Land Availability Assessment (SHELAA). This will assess submitted
sites on the basis of whether they are:

Suitable for development
Available for development
Achievable – can deliver development

9.2.3 From the SHELAA, the Council’s planning policies should identify a sufficient supply
and mix of sites, taking into account their availability, suitability and likely economic viability.
The SHELAA does not allocate sites. The Local Plan will determine which of those sites are
the most suitable to meet requirements. The site selection methodology (Appendix 1) will test
sites against assessment criteria including development constraints, compliance with the
preferred strategy for development, sustainability appraisal and planning judgement. Through
this process, a shortlist of suitable, sustainable and deliverable sites will be identified.

9.2.4 The SHELAA will be published following the close of the Call for Sites in January 2021,
and the findings will be used as the starting point for selecting land allocations to meet the
required development needs of the borough. The SHELAA methodology has been appended
to this document and provides further information.

Submitting land to the Call for Sites

The review forms a critical element of the Councils Covid-19 Recovery Strategy and is a
real opportunity to ensure that the Telford & Wrekin Economy is well placed to ‘bounce
back’. At this stage the Council are asking landowners and developers to consider what
land they have available to help with the recovery process and facilitate inward investment
and economic growth as well as housing to meet local needs.

TWLP Review Issues & Options

Page 109



Telford has a strong economic track record and this is demonstrated most clearly in the
inward investment the borough has seen over recent years. The Council want this to continue
and the economy to thrive. To achieve this the Council are first and foremost seeking
submissions to the Call for Sites for employment land opportunities. This includes
existing businesses which may have land that could be developed to enable them to grow
on site or reinvest within the business.

If you have land that is available for development we want to hear from you or your
representatives. You can submit land for consideration at www.telford.gov.uk/callforsites.
Initially we need the application form with a redline boundary plan of the land for
consideration, any further supporting information can follow.

The deadline for submissions is 8 January 2021.

9.3 Integrated appraisal

9.3.1 An Integrated Appraisal (IA) is a systematic process that must be carried out during the
preparation of local plans and spatial development strategies and is a legislative requirement.
Its role is to promote sustainable development by assessing the extent to which the emerging
plan, when judged against reasonable alternatives, will help to achieve relevant environmental,
economic and social objectives. The IA Scoping Report will be published alongside the Issues
& Options consultation document.

9.3.2 The production of the IA must be in line with National Planning Practice Guidance and
be produced with in line with the following regulations and legislation:

Section’s 19 and 39 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004
Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004
Conservation of Habitats and Species (Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019

9.3.3 Consultation will be required with key statutory stakeholders in the development of the
IA including:

The Environment Agency
Historic England
Natural England
Any other parties the Council deem necessary to the production of the IA

9.3.4 The Integrated Appraisal (IA) will comprise of a ‘Sustainability Appraisal’ or SA and a
‘Habitat Regulations Assessment’ or HRA. The IA will be used to inform the review of the Telford
& Wrekin Plan and will need to meet the requirements as for Sustainability Appraisals and
Habitat Regulations as set out in the National Planning Policy Guidance. The IA will also include
a Health Impact Assessment (HIA) and an Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA).

9.3.5 IA documents will be completed in advance of key stages of consultation for the review.
The stages of the IA are defined below:

Stage A: Scoping Report - Setting the context and objectives, establishing the baseline
and deciding on the scope of IA reportPage 110

http://www.telford.gov.uk/callforsites


Stage B: IA of Draft Plan - Developing and refining alternatives and assessing effects
Stage C: IA of Publication Plan - Prepare the sustainability appraisal report
Stage D: Incorporate comments on Publication Version into IA Report - Seek
representations on the sustainability appraisal report from consultation bodies and the
public
Stage E: Adoption Statement - Post adoption reporting and monitoring

9.4 Duty to Cooperate

9.4.1 Local authorities are expected to address strategic cross boundary matters in
development plans and demonstrate how they have engaged in strategic planning through the
'Duty to Cooperate'. This is a legal obligation and a matter of soundness that the Council is
required to comply with.

9.4.2 The Duty to Cooperate is not a 'duty to agree'. However, all local planning authorities
are expected to demonstrate evidence of having successfully cooperated to plan for issues with
cross-boundary impacts when their local plans are submitted for examination. Where there are
cross boundary matters local authorities discharge this Duty by agreeing memoranda of
understanding. The Council will engage with nearby local authorities in the review of the TWLP
and will continue to be engaged with them as they prepare their Local Plans/documents.

9.4.3 The Council have been approached by the Association of Black Country Authorities to
assist in meeting a contribution towards meeting their unmet development needs. The Council
at this early stage in the review process maintain the view held at the Examination of the TWLP
that sufficient evidence is not yet available to support such a request. The Council will continue
to engage in dialogue with the ABCA and keep this issue under review as work on the TWLP
review progresses.

9.4.4 There are a range of statutory bodies that the Council will also be engaging with
including:

The Environment Agency
English Heritage
Natural England
Civil Aviation Authority
Homes England
Telford & Wrekin Clinical Commissioning Group
Office of Road and Rail Regulation
West Midlands Combined Authority (Integrated Transport Authority)
Highways England
Local Highways Authority
Marches Local Enterprise Partnership
Other Local Planning Authorities

9.4.5 The Council will at each stage inform the above agencies and authorities of progress
with the review and will where issues are identified engage directly and appropriately with them.

TWLP Review Issues & Options

Page 111



9.5 Telford & Wrekin's role in the region

9.5.1 The Council is actively involved in wider partnerships including as part of Marches Local
Enterprise Partnership (LEP), as a non-constituent member ofWest Midlands Combined Authority
and a member of the River Severn Partnership. Council representations in these organisations
helps to:

Secure infrastructure funding
Influence policy at regional and national level
Secure direct investment in bringing forward brownfield land
Share information and costs associated with planning large infrastructure schemes

Marches LEP – The LEP are responsible for setting the economic direction for the Telford &
Wrekin, Shropshire and Herefordshire through the Strategic Economic Plan and Local Industrial
Strategy. Both these documents help to identify areas of opportunity and development in
economic and industrial sectors for the area. The Council continue to work closely with the
Marches LEP to secure infrastructure investment in borough, to date this has amounted to
£29m. This relationship will be crucial to funding further investment in unlocking land for
development and gap funding the provision of infrastructure.

West Midlands Combined Authority (CA) – The CA are not a planning authority, however they
do have a key role to play in funding and supporting the delivery of employment and housing
development across the West Midlands. The CA are and will continue to be a source of funding
for bringing forward sites as well as directly funding infrastructure projects. The Strategic
Infrastructure Delivery Plan identifies the M54 (road and rail) and A41 corridors as having
significant growth potential, with the ultimate aim of producing investment prospectuses for both
routes. The CA is also providing policy support to Local Planning Authorities around issues
such as Advanced Methods of Construction, Zero Carbon Homes and regeneration projects.

River Severn Partnership – The partnership has been established to address flood risk along
the Severn corridor with the aim of improving economic resilience and realising new economic
opportunities. The partnership will play a key role in helping to address local issues such as
flooding in theWorld Heritage Site, how best to protect properties and communities in the Gorge
and as a source of support in bids to fund infrastructure. The work of the partnership will also
support the Councils climate change action plan through the planning and delivery of natural
flood storage schemes.

9.6 What happens after the Issues & Options consultation

9.6.1 Following the Issues and Options consultation the Council will consider representations
received and prepare further evidence work to develop proposals for the Preferred Options
Stage of the review. This will also include:

Publishing the findings of the Strategic Housing & Employment Land Availability Assessment
(SHELAA)
Progressing the site selection process – using the site selection methodology appended
to this document
Sourcing any further evidence required in advance of the Preferred Strategy phase.

9.6.2 Further key dates are set out in the table below.
Page 112



Table 3: Key Dates

DatesPhase

Spring 2021Cabinet approval to consult on Preferred
Options Stage (Draft Plan)

Autumn 2021Cabinet approval to consult on Publication
Version

Subject to Planning Inspectorate timetableSubmission Version for Examination

Adoption

10 Appendix 1: Site selection methodology

Context & background

10.1 This annex provides details of the site selection methodology proposed by the Council
as part of the review of the TWLP. The review will inform the requirements for and supply of,
further development land across the borough. The type of sites to be allocated could include
land for employment, housing, mixed use development sites (employment, housing etc.), minerals
sites, sites supporting renewable energy provision and sites that support the needs of different
groups in the community, such as Gypsy & Traveller sites.

10.2 In order to identify land to accommodate future growth, the Local Plan Review will
consider a variety of sites including those put forward through the Call for Sites and SHELAA
(Strategic Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment) processes to determine whether
they are; 1) suitable, 2) available and 3) achievable.. Sites that meet this criteria will progress
through the site selection methodology, testing the sites against assessment criteria including
development constraints, strategic objectives and planning judgement.

10.3 The Call for Sites process is an opportunity for landowners and developers to formally
submit their sites to the Council for consideration as a site allocation. The Call for Sites process
has been extended until 8 January 2021 as a result of the changing economic landscape forced
via the Covid-19 pandemic. The Council may consider sites submitted after the Call for Sites
closure in circumstances where sites may be considered a strategic fit, as well as suitable when
the wider site selection methodology is applied, as per any other site submissions. Sites may
be submitted more than once, for example from different developers or on its own and also part
of a larger site.

10.4 Sites allocated through the Local Plan are distinct from planning applications. A site
allocation has been deemed by the Council to be the most appropriate use for a site, establishing
the principle of development for a particular use and/or type of development, subject to
consideration of technical matters through a planning application. Similarly, if an area of land
is not allocated through the Local Plan this does not prevent a future planning application coming
forward.

10.5 It is important the site selection process, in conjunction with accompanying Sustainability
Appraisal adheres to the principles as laid out in the NPPF. Paragraph 67 of the NPPF states
strategic policy-making authorities should have a clear understanding of the land available in
their area through the preparation of a strategic housing (and/or employment) land availability

TWLP Review Issues & Options

Page 113



assessment. From the SHELAA, the Council’s planning policies should identify a sufficient
supply and mix of sites, taking into account their availability, suitability and likely economic
viability.

10.6 An evidence based approach is important when it comes to identifying the most
appropriate sites for employment, housing, minerals, renewable energy projects and any other
development uses to be allocated in the Local Plan. Sites will be subject to assessment of any
constraints present, providing a view of suitable sites for development. Constraints include
environmental or heritage designations which can impact on the level or type of development
occurring. These constraints are split into two categories:

Hard constraints, where sites will be deemed unsuitable for development if wholly or
significantly within; and
Soft constraints, where development would be possible with appropriate mitigation.

10.7 Where development on submitted sites is clearly not achievable due to the presence
of hard constraints, they will be filtered out at an early stage (stage 2) of the site selection
process. The totality of soft constraints present on the site will be considered and total site areas
will be reduced to exclude highly constrained areas of the site, or whether adverse impacts can
be partially or substantially mitigated. Examples of mitigation measures include the use of
sustainable urban drainage systems and landscape design to minimise and manage flood risk,
enhancing heritage assets, tackling heritage at risk and enhancing nearby or providing new
public open space where an existing open space may be impacted by development.

10.8 Planning judgement will be applied to candidate sites that have a significant area of
coverage by a hard constraint, but not wholly covered. For example, the land coverage or
presence of the hard constraint negates the feasibility of site access, or the remaining
developable area would result in a number of homes lower than the small sites threshold of
5+.

Page 114



TWLP Review Issues & Options

Page 115



Selecting employment sites

10.9 A key driver for the review is to maintain a supply of employment land. When allocating
employment sites, it is important to differentiate how a site might be more suitable for employment
than for housing. Additional evidence through the Economic & Housing Development Needs
Assessment (EHDNA) will incorporate local market analysis and information on key growth
sectors of the economy, the study will translate this information into broad land use requirements.
Factors that will help determine whether a site is suitable for employment include:

Site-specific characteristics such as topography and shape
Highways access
Proximity to other similar employment uses
Strategic location of the site within the context of the overall preferred development strategy
Any existing policy designations such as Strategic Employment Areas or Town Centres
(subject to the Local Plan Review)

10.10 The Council also recognise that some submissions for other uses, such as housing,
may make a more suitable contribution to the borough’s employment land requirements. Where
this is identified the Council will work with developers to justify proposals on the basis of delivering
new employment land.

Proposed site selection methodology

10.11 At this stage, the Council is proposing the following site selection methodology. This
consists of 7 stages:

Stage 1 - Call for Sites and Strategic Housing & Economic Land Availability Assessment
(SHELAA)

10.12 Identification of potential sites through both processes.

a. Firstly, from the Call for Sites, sites submitted from landowners & developers go forward
for consideration. Some sites may progress to planning permissions through the evolution
of the plan preparation so site numbers and status will also evolve. Site submissions below
0.25 ha or capable of accommodating only 5 or fewer dwellings are unlikely to be considered
for inclusion in the local plan, unless there is potential for allocation as part of a larger site.
Such small sites can still be considered through the planning application process as ‘windfall
development’.

b. From the SHELAA, all sites go forward for consideration. The SHELAA is a survey of both
existing and potential development sites, identifying the supply that is available to meet
requirements but does not allocate sites.

Stage 2 – Initial Assessment of Hard Constraints

10.13 Identify sites considered unsuitable due to site being wholly or significantly within hard
constraints, i.e. where development on the remaining developable area would not be considered
justifiable. Sites do not progress further. Hard constraints identified within the borough include:

Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI)
Local Nature Reserves (LNR) Page 116



Historic Parks & Gardens
Ancient Woodland/Ancient Trees
Grade I or II Listed Buildings
Scheduled Monuments
Flood Zone 3
Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty
Local Sites (Wildlife or Geological)

Stage 3 – Preferred growth strategy and development principles

10.14 Sites will be screened against the preferred Local Plan growth strategy. Housing and
employment sites would not progress if they clearly do not fit with the preferred development
strategy, minerals and possible other submitted typologies will be subject to a different process.
The Council is consulting on growth strategy options as part of the Issues & Options consultation
document. The preferred growth strategy and draft site allocations will be published for
consultation at the Preferred Options stage of this review.

10.15 As part of the site selection methodology the Council is also proposing a set of principles
which will help direct development following the distribution of the preferred levels of growth
between Telford, Newport and the rural area. These principles will contribute towards determining
the most suitable locations for proposed site allocations as part of the site selection process.
The principles are covered by two broad themes:

1. Corridors & Networks

The corridors and networks principles will help ensure new development is interconnected,
provide access to jobs and services as well as opportunities to readily access green space and
the natural environment. The principles seek to achieve sites that:

1. Are adjacent to or could be connected to the strategic and principal highway network
identified on the TWLP policies map

2. Can be connected to bus routes or provide the opportunity to grow the existing bus network
3. Sites that can deliver new commercial or residential development opportunities around

railway stations (including the potential for rail connections along the route from Stafford
Park to Ironbridge Power Station via the south of Telford)

4. Are connected or could be connected to the strategic walking, cycling and Public Rights
of Way network

5. Are well connected to existing green infrastructure and green spaces
6. Provide the opportunity increase the coverage of better connected green infrastructure and

publicly accessible open space for the movement of people, biodiversity and species
7. Sites of a scale that can help deliver new networks including electric vehicle infrastructure,

renewable energy generation and 5G communications infrastructure.

2. Centres & Regeneration

The centres and regeneration principles will help to ensure that development plays a positive
contribution towards supporting regeneration, renewal and repurposing of town, market and
district centres as well as former new town housing estates. The principles seek to achieve
sites that:

TWLP Review Issues & Options

Page 117



1. Would realise development opportunities in and around existing town, market and district
centres that would support the regeneration of those centres

2. Would form Sustainable Urban Extensions that would be of sufficient scale to deliver new
district or local centres

3. Will bring in new uses and trade to town, market and district centres including the potential
for some residential development

4. Would realise development opportunities (new build and re-provision) in and around existing
new town housing estates that could improve local housing stock, enhance the public realm
and create greater housing choice in those areas

5. Deliver development on brownfield land that has low ecological value
6. Would create stronger communities and benefit existing communities through the

regeneration of a range of development sites that would deliver opportunities for support
and specialist accommodation as well as employment opportunities.

Stage 4 – Integrated Assessment

10.16 Sites progressing to this stage will be appraised against Sustainability Appraisal
objectives. Significant positive or negative effects, as well as cumulative effects will be identified
and scored via a RAG rating system. This stage would identify appropriate mitigation measures
that would need to be addressed if a site is subsequently progressed to the next stage.

Stage 5 – Flood Risk Sequential & Exceptions Test

10.17 Sites ranked from low to high on flood risk (sites identified as flood zone 3b will have
been ruled out at Stage 2). Rankings are based on findings from the Strategic Flood Risk
Assessment (SFRA). More vulnerable sites (medium to high risk) requires pass of both parts
of the Exception Test and site specific Flood Risk Assessment as set out in the NPPF.

Stage 6 – Technical Assessment Stage

10.18 Sites will be assessed in detail with regards to soft constraints and the level of mitigation
required.

10.19 Soft constraints include but are not exclusive to:

Tree Preservation Orders (TPOs)
Public Open Space
Mineral Safeguarding Areas
Conservation Areas
World Heritage Site
Locally Listed Buildings
Other non-designated heritage assets
Flood Zone 2
Strategic Landscapes
Green Network

10.20 Sites will be assessed against the following evidence base:

Landscape and visual sensitivity study,
Ecology and biodiversity evidence,

Page 118



Heritage evidence – proximity to heritage assets & officer assessment of impacts and
setting
Infrastructure delivery planning
Service provision – e.g. schools, healthcare
Site access achievability during plan period – based on evidence provided by site promoters
Traffic modelling

Stage 7 – Overall Conclusions & Decisions on Site Allocations & Rejections

10.21 Sites at this stage of the process will either be justified as final site allocations, or
rejected with clear reasoning for that decision. The Council may revisit sites from previous
stages of the methodology if insufficient sites have been identified to meet requirements.

TWLP Review Issues & Options

Page 119



10.22 Late submissions put forward after the Call for Sites closure may be considered by
the Council with the expectation that strong evidence supports the submission. Submitted sites
may be withdrawn from the process via request. Boundary amendments of existing submissions
are also possible.

Do you have any comments on the proposed site selection methodology?

Do you think the presence of certain soft constraints should be treated more
importantly than others? I.e. should these factors have greater weighting in the
assessment process? If yes, please provide details.

Do you agree themethodology covers the key considerations for selecting or rejecting
development sites?

Should sites only be taken forward for consideration where they are large enough
to ask developers to provide Affordable Housing on site? (10 or more dwellings?)

Do you have any comments on the development principles which will help direct
development following the distribution of the preferred growth levels?

In addition to the factorsmentioned in themethodology above, are there othermaterial
planning considerations you consider to be important when selecting sites? Please
provide details.

Page 120



 
 

TELFORD & WREKIN COUNCIL 
CABINET 24/09/2020 
COUNCIL 26/11/2020 
LGA RESPONSE & RECOVERY PANEL 
REPORT OF DAVID SIDAWAY, CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
LEAD CABINET MEMBER SHAUN DAVIES, COUNCIL LEADER 

 

PART A) – SUMMARY REPORT 

1. SUMMARY OF MAIN PROPOSALS 
 

In July, the LGA undertook a Response & Recovery Panel Peer Review of the 

Council’s response to the Covid-19 pandemic. The purpose of the Review was to 

identify areas of good practice to share with other local authorities and to offer 

challenge to our approach. This report presents the findings of the Panel. 

2. Recommendations 
 

It is recommended that Cabinet:- 

2.1 Endorses the LGA Response & Recovery Panel report that highlights the 

strength of the Council’s response to the pandemic and its ambition to drive 

and support recovery. 

 

3. SUMMARY IMPACT ASSESSMENT  
 

COMMUNITY IMPACT Do these proposals contribute to specific Co-Operative 

Council priority objective(s)? 

Yes Impacts on all Priorities 

Will the proposals impact on specific groups of 

people? 

No Borough-wide impact 

TARGET 

COMPLETION/DELIVERY 

DATE 

Corporate LGA Peer review scheduled for week 

commencing 16th November 

FINANCIAL/VALUE FOR 

MONEY IMPACT 

No  There are no direct financial implications 

arising from the recommendations of this 

report. 

TAS 28.8.2020 

LEGAL ISSUES Yes/No  There are no legal implications directly 

associated with this report.  However, the 

positive report reflects the efforts the 

Council has made to adapt to the regularly 

changing legislative position with regards to 

Page 121

Agenda Item 6



 
 

the pandemic and the associated 

government guidance. AL 24.08.2020 

OTHER IMPACTS, RISKS 

& OPPORTUNITIES 

No  

IMPACT ON SPECIFIC 

WARDS 

No Borough-wide impact 

 

PART B) – ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

4. INFORMATION 
 

4.1 To support and benefit from the LGA’s sector-led improvement, the Council 

participated in the LGA’s very first Response & Recovery Peer Review. The purpose 

of this Panel was to explore the Council’s response to the pandemic and understand 

how we are planning for and driving recovery with the objective of identifying best 

practice to share with other authorities and also to offer challenge to our approach. 

4.2 The Panel members were: 

 Nick Carter, Chief Executive of West Berkshire Council  

 Councillor Chris Read, Leader of Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council  
 

4.3 The all-day Panel took place virtually on Wednesday 15 July, and was 

structured around sessions exploring the following themes: 

 

 Understanding of the local place and priority setting  

 Leadership and communications  

 Communities  

 Local economy  

 Environment  

 Support for the care sector – children and adults  
 

4.4 Following the Panel, the LGA produced a brief report which is presented in 

Appendix One. Although there is no overall grade or assessment, the report was 

very positive and highlights the strength of the Council’s response to the pandemic 

stating “there has been impressive delivery by the council, both independently 

and with and through others, and it is making a difference.” 

4.5 At this core of the Council’s response was leadership: “A strong underlying 

narrative comes across from the senior leadership of the authority – one of a 

‘Co-operative Council’ that is competent, caring and pragmatic; an 

organisation that is keen to learn and develop; and an authority that has seen 

a huge amount delivered through its communities as a result of adopting an 

enabling approach.” 

Page 122



 
 

4.6 The Panel specifically recognised the strength of the Council’s approach to 

communications, which “during the crisis has been very impressive. A strong 

social media presence with very high levels of reach has been established. 

Within this, creativity has been shown in the production of videos that convey 

impactful and helpful messages, reflecting the council’s objective of providing 

reassurance and hope to communities; demonstrating that it is on the side of 

local people; and being seen as a trusted source of information.” 

4.7 Our approach to partnership working was seen as core to our response to the 
pandemic: “The council has worked hard in recent years to establish strong 
relationships with partners and the Covid-19 crisis is seen to have moved 
these up a level.” 
 
4.8 Finally, the Panel also recognised the Council’s ambition to drive the recovery 
from the pandemic: “Through the plan, the council is demonstrating its 
leadership of place and, through ‘Reset and Reform’ is seeking to cement or 
establish new approaches and ensure any return to what went before is 
through conscious choice rather than by default and a ‘race back to 
normality’.” 
 
4.9 The Response & Recovery Panel provided an effective means by which we 
could take stock and reflect on our response to the pandemic and our recovery plans 
and, importantly, have that exposed to external scrutiny and challenge.  The report 
from the Panel provided assurance that our approach was seen as well-managed, 
effective and was seen to have impact. Subsequently, we have been asked to 
produce a series of case studies to share through the LGA with other local 
authorities. 
 
Next Steps 

4.10 As part of the Council’s continued engagement with the LGA sector-led 
improvement ‘offer’, the postponed March Corporate Peer Challenge will take place 
in the week commencing 16th November. As well as looking at the organisation’s 
priorities and how it uses its resources to deliver them, this will provide an 
opportunity to continue the theme of the Response & Recovery Panel and facilitate 
further reflection on the progress we are making to drive and support the borough’s 
recovery from the impact of Covid-19. 
 
5. PREVIOUS MINUTES 
None 

 
6. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
None 

 

Report prepared by Jon Power, ODD Manager, telephone: 01952 380141 

Page 123



This page is intentionally left blank



Learning Disabilities

Day Opportunities

Recovery Model

Cabinet – 24 September 2020

Sarah Dillon, Director, Adult Social Care

P
age 125

A
genda Item

 7



Pre- Covid

LD Cabinet Presentation – Sept 2020

• Wide ranging engagement to shape the 

future of care for adults with learning 

disabilities and their families was underway. 

• Engagement outcomes would then inform 

the TWC Learning Disability Strategy.

• Followed by a formal consultation on LD 

Strategy over the Summer and the final 

strategy presented to Cabinet in Autumn 

2020.

Change in 
thinking

Reduced 
dependency

Improved 
outcomes 

P
age 126



During Covid Lockdown

• All day services suspended operating in line with 

social distancing rules in March 2020

• Regular contact with individuals, carers and families 

remotely and direct care for those in most need

• Regular Multi-agency meetings with partners to manage 

risks and issues

• People who normally access the service, their 

parents/carers, and staff had to adapt to a new day to day 

routine.

• Staff and individuals adapted their approach e.g. on-line 

support, activities, meetings, distribution of activity packs

LD Cabinet Presentation – Sept 2020

P
age 127



Phase 5 –
Strategy 

development 
and formal 

consultation

December -
March 2021

Phase 4 –
Review again, 

respond, plan & 
engage

September –
November 2020

Phase 3 –
Implement new 
Covid compliant 

offer

July - August 
2020

Phase 2: Review 
and Respond to 

meet legal 
requirements

June – July 2020

Phase 1: 
Immediate 
Response

23 March – June 
2020

Day Opportunity Service Response & Recovery Plan

LD Cabinet Presentation – Sept 2020

March 2020 March 2021Sept 2020June 2020 Dec 2020

  

N/B The Engagement, Strategy and Consultation 

reflects the whole offer around Learning 

Disability across the Borough

P
age 128



My Options Day Activity Services Recovery Offer

LD Cabinet Presentation – Sept 2020

Examples:
Getting started with  technology Independent Living Skills
Looking after Myself Looking after My Home 
Keeping Healthy and Well            Food and Nutrition
Getting Active Staying Safe 
Stepping into work Getting a Job / volunteering /  developing  micro enterprises
Connecting with Friends,  my local community and support networks

Developing Skills , Independence, Community Participation
In the home                                                   In the Community
In the Workplace                                          Linking people, family carers, Communities
Support  to access virtual and community opportunities (direct support and independently)
Promoting  peer and  local  support networks 

Building Based activities – Limited places in line with Government Guidance.
Specialist 121/ 2:1   home/ community  based support  
Therapeutic activities Sensory 
Physiotherapy  Postural management
Creative activities PBS

Virtual Group 

Activities

Community 

Support 
(individual or small 

group)

Supporting 

people with 

highest level 

needs

P
age 129



Recovery Phase (1)

Completed Care Act reviews with 

all people who attended Day 

Service Activities pre-Covid. 

Of which: 

• 56.5% have accessed the Day 

Activities Recovery Offer

• 37.5% have chosen not to return 

to Day Activities at this time –

e.g. family/carer supporting 

them, accessing other activities

• 6% were self funders and those 

not resident in Telford and 

Wrekin.

LD Cabinet Presentation – Sept 2020

 Community Support – 63% group 

support/ 33% individual (one to 

one, or two to one support)

 34% of people who are accessing 

Community Support are also 

accessing virtual services
As at 25/08/2020

Connect (Virtual)

Community Support

Building Based

14
Individual/family feedback comments 

and formal enquiries
As at 25/08/2020

P
age 130



Recovery Phase (2)

Now

Completed Care Act reviews 

with all people who attended 

Day Service Activities pre-

Covid. 

Of which: 

• 56.5% have accessed the 

Day Activities Recovery 

Offer

• 37.5% have chosen not to 

return to Day Activities at 

this time – e.g. family/carer 

supporting them, 

accessing other activities

• 6% were self funders 

and/or external clients who 

did not require a Care Act 

Review. 

LD Cabinet Presentation – Sept 2020

Individual’s Next Steps

• Ongoing discussions/ 

feedback with the person 

and their families.

• Reviews for people during 

Sept/Oct/November to 

review situation and check 

how the support plan 

arrangements meet the 

person’s Care Act identified 

needs and outcomes. 

Outcomes

This could result in a variety 

of scenarios including:

• Support plans remaining 

the same; or

• Change in support plan:
o Different Day Activities

o More/Less Day Activities

o No Day Activities

Ongoing review of My Options services in light of Government Covid-19 Guidance

Ongoing engagement with individuals, family/carers and staff

P
age 131



Feedback so far…

LD Cabinet Presentation – Sept 2020

What would you like to see 

in the future?

“Budgeting”

“Develop recipe cards to 

ensure that we offer 

alternatives and options 

with ingredients”

“Learning about insects”

What could be better? 

“Impossible to support 2 customers at 

once and that this should have been 

discussed before the sessions started”

“It would be better to provide videos 

instead of doing virtual sessions”

“The sessions were organised too 

quickly and more time should have 

been spent on the organisation and 

preparation”

“Risk assessments 

in the homes 

before sessions 

start”

“Develop a list of 

useful utensils for 

customer to 

purchase prior to 

programme 

starting”

People and their family carers

“The sessions have 

been delivered with fun, 

which helps to keep C’s 

attention.  The ideas 

each week have been 

well thought out and link 

with the things C is 

learning in the home 

environment.”

“10/10 for delivery”

“You are tackling things I 

never even thought 

about – it’s spot on!”

“I could tell A got a 

lot out of her first 

session”

“Recipes are really 

easy to follow and at 

a reasonable cost.” 

“B hates shopping, however now he shops for 

himself to take part in the cooking, he seems 

to want to go on a Monday to get his 

ingredients. Which is great!”

P
age 132



Next Steps (Phase 4)
 Continue to listen to and gather feedback from people accessing 

the services, parents/carers, and staff about what is working and 

would be improved.

 Development of a Quality Assurance framework for recovery offer

 Refining the offer based on feedback and quality assurance work

 Workforce development/training to support staff to provide the new 

services (commissioned through ODD)

 Development of a Carers Advisory Group

 Further development of pathways out of My Options Day Activities 

Provision - connecting people to their next steps in life

 Extending the Stepping into Work Programme and build on 

Learning from AutonoMe Project (employability skills)

 Re-launch the LD Strategy Pre-Consultation Engagement on 30th

September 2020

LD Cabinet Presentation – Sept 2020

P
age 133



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	5 Issues & Options Consultation (review of Telford & Wrekin Local Plan)
	Annex 1

	6 LGA Recovery & Renewal Panel
	7 Learning Disabilities Day Opportunities Recovery Model

